

Zootaxa 3762 (1): 001–071 www.mapress.com/zootaxa/

Copyright © 2014 Magnolia Press





http://dx.doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3762.1.1 http://zoobank.org/urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:68E063AB-2C09-4FCA-8761-FBC73D562990

ZOOTAXA



The larvae of European Myrmeleontidae (Neuroptera)

DAVIDE BADANO^{1,3} & ROBERTO ANTONIO PANTALEONI²

Istituto per lo Studio degli Ecosistemi, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (ISE–CNR), Traversa la Crucca 3, Regione Baldinca, I– 07100 Li Punti SS, Italy & Sezione di Entomologia e Patologia Vegetale, Dipartimento di Agraria, Università degli Studi, via Enrico De Nicola, I–07100 Sassari SS, Italy

*E-mail:*¹ davide.badano@gmail.com, ² r.pantaleoni@ise.cnr.it – r.pantaleoni@uniss.it ³Corresponding author



Magnolia Press Auckland, New Zealand Davide Badano & Roberto Antonio Pantaleoni **The larvae of European Myrmeleontidae (Neuroptera)** (*Zootaxa* 3762)

71 pp.; 30 cm.

5 Feb 2014

ISBN 978-1-77557-332-6 (paperback)

ISBN 978-1-77557-333-3 (Online edition)

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 2014 BY Magnolia Press P.O. Box 41-383 Auckland 1346 New Zealand e-mail: zootaxa@mapress.com http://www.mapress.com/zootaxa/

© 2014 Magnolia Press

ISSN 1175-5326(Print edition)ISSN 1175-5334(Online edition)

Table of contents

Abstract	4
Introduction	
Material and methods	
Larval morphology	
Larval development and life cycle.	
Larval stages recognition	
Tribe Palparini Navás, 1912	
Palpares Rambur, 1842	
Palpares libelluloides (Linnaeus, 1764)	
Tribe Dendroleontini Banks, 1899	
Dendroleon Brauer, 1866	
Dendroleon pantherinus (Fabricius, 1787)	
Tribe Nemoleontini Banks, 1911	
Nemoleon Navás, 1909	18
Nemoleon notatus (Rambur, 1842)	
Creoleon Tillyard, 1918	
Creoleon lugdunensis (Villers, 1789)	
Macronemurus A. Costa, 1855	
Macronemurus appendiculatus (Latreille, 1807)	
Distoleon Banks, 1910	24
Distoleon tetragrammicus (Fabricius, 1798)	
Neuroleon Navás, 1909	
Key to the known larvae of <i>Neuroleon</i>	
Neuroleon arenarius Navás, 1904.	
Neuroleon assimilis (Navás, 1914)	
Neuroleon egenus (Navás, 1914)	
Neuroleon microstenus (McLachlan, 1898)	
Neuroleon nemausiensis (Borkhausen, 1791)	
Neuroleon ochreatus (Navás, 1904)	
Megistopus Rambur, 1842	
Key to the larvae of <i>Megistopus</i>	
Megistopus Judicornis (Rossi, 1790)	
Gymnocnemia Schneider, 1845	
Gymnochemia Schneider, 1845	
Myrmecaelurus A. Costa, 1855.	
Myrmecaelurus trigrammus (Pallas, 1771).	
Tribe Nesoleontini Markl, 1954.	
Cueta Navás, 1911	
Key to the European larvae of <i>Cueta</i>	
Cueta beieri Hölzel, 1969	
Cueta lineosa (Rambur, 1842)	
Tribe Acanthaclisini Navás, 1912	
Acanthaclisis Rambur, 1842	
Acanthaclisis occitanica (Villers, 1789)	17
Synclisis Navás, 1919	49
Synclisis baetica (Rambur, 1842)	49
Tribe Myrmeleontini Latreille, 1802	51
<i>Myrmeleon</i> Linnaeus, 1767	
Key to the known larvae of European Myrmeleon	
Myrmeleon formicarius Linnaeus, 1767	
Myrmeleon gerlindae Hölzel, 1974	
Myrmelon punicanus Pantaleoni & Badano, 2012	
Myrmeleon bore (Tjeder, 1941)	
Myrmeleon inconspicuus Rambur, 1842	
<i>Myrmeleon mariaemathildae</i> Pantaleoni, Cesaroni & Nicoli Aldini, 2010	
Myrmeleon hyalinus Olivier, 1811	
Myrmeleon fasciatus (Navás, 1914)	
Euroleon Esben-Petersen, 1918	
Euroleon nostras (Geoffroy in Fourcroy, 1785)	
Discussion	
Acknowledgments	
	90

Abstract

The larvae of the European Myrmeleontidae are reviewed with the aim to ease their identification, covering 15 genera and 28 species. Diagnostic characters and illustrations are given for each taxon. Larvae of the genera *Nemoleon* and *Macrone-murus* are described for the first time while *Megistopus*, *Neuroleon* and *Myrmeleon* are revised. The larvae of *Dendroleon pantherinus* (Fabricius), *Macronemurus appendiculatus* (Latreille), *Megistopus lucasi* (Navás), *Nemoleon notatus* (Rambur), *Neuroleon arenarius* (Navás), *Neuroleon assimilis* (Navás), *Neuroleon nemausiensis* (Borkhausen), *Cueta lineosa* (Rambur) and *Myrmeleon gerlindae* (Hölzel) are described or accurately depicted for the first time.

Key words: Myrmeleontiformia, antlions, larval morphology, identification, Mediterranean, Western Palaearctic

Introduction

The order Neuroptera, as currently established, is mostly based on larval characters (U. Aspöck 1992; U. Aspöck *et al.* 2001) and even the reciprocal relationships between families are mainly elucidated by the study of larval morphology, as underlined for the first time by the unmatched work of Withycombe (1925) and confirmed by recent studies (Beutel *et al.* 2010; Winterton *et al.* 2010). Myrmeleontidae are one of the larger families of the order, rivaling with Chrysopidae in the number of described species, comprising conspicuous insects and representing a major component of the insect fauna in arid environments, although at the same time representing a poorly known family whose systematics remains unclear (Mansell 1999).

The study of larval morphology is necessary to solve the complex systematics of Myrmeleontidae (Stange & Miller 1990; Stange 1994, 2004), presently mostly based on adult characters (Markl 1954). Despite the larvae of some species attracted the attention of the ancient naturalists thanks to their remarkable pit building behavior, earning the vernacular name "antlion" attested for the first time during the Middle Ages (Druce 1923; Kevan 1992), they are known only for a limited minority of species thus representing a serious obstacle to a better knowledge of the family. The European species of Myrmeleontidae are illustrative of the difficulties involving the study of the larvae of this family. The first accurate morphological studies on the European antlion larvae were undertaken by Brauer (1854, 1855a, 1855b, 1867), who understood for the first time the importance of the preimaginal stages in the systematics of Neuroptera, and Hagen (1873). Later works regarding the European fauna mostly deal with the descriptions of single species, such as the morphological studies of Principi (1943, 1947) and noticeably few original comprehensive and comparative works for identification purposes have been published (Redtenbacher 1884; Steffan 1968, 1975; Friheden 1973; Willmann 1977). Nevertheless, most of the European antlion larvae remain insufficiently known and frequently the existing description are not deepened or simply based on occasional findings. At the same time the ecology of numerous species remains unknown.

The present study is the result of a three years field research mainly conducted in southern Europe, especially in the western Mediterranean, with aim to improve the state of knowledge of the larvae of Myrmeleontidae of the genera present in this area. This work culminates a series of studies on this subject realized by the authors (Cesaroni *et al.* 2010; Pantaleoni *et al.* 2010; Pantaleoni & Badano 2012).

Material and methods

The larvae were directly collected in the field or alternatively obtained from eggs laid by adult females. In the first case, they were directly located at sight for the pit building species or by sieving the substratum. The oviposition was obtained by keeping the females in containers partly filled with sand, superiorly closed with paper or a net and with some sticks as support; if the condition are optimal the female lays the eggs into sand. The two methods, the direct research of the larvae in the field and rearing from eggs, provide complementary information: ecological requirements of each species and sure identification respectively. Afterwards, the larvae were reared in the laboratory in order to check the identification or to obtain the 3rd instar, being the first two instars not suitable for diagnostic purposes. Rearing was carried out in a dedicated room with a mean temperature of 25°C and 60% humidity while during winter the larvae were moved into an unconditioned room to simulate natural conditions. The antlions were kept in small cylindrical plastic containers a third filled with sand; for some species with different substratum preferences, loose soil or vegetal detritus were used instead. The preys were constituted by

yellow mealworm larvae, *Tenebrio molitor* Linnaeus (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) and by cockroaches (Blattodea: Blaberidae gen. sp.) of adequate size. Newly hatched larvae were fed with bean aphids, *Aphis fabae* Scopoli (Hemiptera: Aphididae). After spinning the cocoon, the specimens were placed in larger and higher containers provided with a stick to allow the eclosion of the adult.

Morphological observations were mainly conducted by means of a Leica[®] MZ9.5 stereomicroscope while measurements and photographs were taken using a Leica[®] MZ16 stereomicroscope equipped with a Leica[®] DFC320 digital camera. The photographs were elaborated using LAS (Leica[®] Application Suite) applied software Version 2.5.0 R1. Finally, the obtained images were processed and retouched using the software Adobe Photoshop[®] CS5 Extended Version 12.0.

The specimens were measured following the protocol applied by Cesaroni *et al.* (2010): the body length of larvae (BL) was measured from the head (excluding mandibles) to the tip of abdomen; the length of the head capsule (HL) was measured ventrally from the clypeo-labrum to the head insertion with the thorax, the head width (HW) was taken just below the ocular tubercles, at the point of maximum width; the length of the mandibles (ML) was measured from the apex to the base. In order to underline the respective proportions of the head and of the mouthparts, the ratio head capsule width/head capsule length (HW/HL) and mandible length/head capsule length (ML/HL) were calculated.

The number of interdental mandibular setae is reported for each species as a formula: (a)(b)(c)(d), where a = number of setae in the gap between mandible base and basal tooth; b = number of setae in the gap between basal and median teeth; c = number of setae in the gap between median and apical teeth; d = number of setae in the gap between apical teeth and apex of the mandible.

The larva instars are sometimes indicated as L1 (1st instar); L2 (2nd instar); L3 (3rd instar).

The larvae were preserved in 95° ethanol and deposited in the collections of the authors.

Larval morphology

(Fig. 1)

Chaetotaxy. The larvae of Myrmeleontidae are equipped with a considerable diversified array of setae, often useful for identification purposes. Lipovšek Delakorda *et al.* (2009) recognized and termed four different types of setae: bristles, plumose hairs, dolichasters and digging setae. Dolichasters are an apomorphic character of Myrmeleontiformia and they can be disposed on all the tagmata, including mouthparts, and typically on the setiferous processes. However in Myrmeleontidae bristles and hairs are predominant, often giving to the larvae a hairy appearance.

Body protuberances. The thorax and abdomen of myrmeleontid larvae are covered by a considerable number of bunches of setae borne by protuberances/projections disposed on the lateral sides of the body (see below). Their prominence, shape, setae-thickness and disposition are very important for taxonomic and identification purposes, besides often offering a clue on larval habits. These protuberances/projections are clearly homologous in all Myrmeleontidae and the use of a general name is recommended despite the shape differences. So the term setiferous processes is adopted here. The very elongated and prominent setiferous processes (often named scoli) are defined here as pedunculated; when they are still recognizable as a protruding structures but comparably shorter and stouter, they are termed sub-pedunculated. At last, sessile if they are not-pedunculated, bearing a thick tuft-like bunch of setae.

Head. The head is heavily sclerotized and sub-rectangular in shape. The profile of the clypeo-labrum is often a valuable diagnostic feature. The dorsal tentorial pits are very evident in most taxa, they are oblique and convergent from the base of the antennae toward the middle of the head. The anterior portion of the head is separated from the epicranial area by a pair of oblique frontal sutures converging in a median straight epicranial one suture running on the dorsal side of the head from the middle toward the posterior part of the head. The occipital foramen is dorsally placed, consequently the head is able to rise up and to withdraw with ease. The antennae are dorso-laterally disposed between the jaws and the ocular tubercle, borne by a slight protrusion; they are small and filiform, composed by a short scapus, a comparatively long pedicel and a slender flagellum. Each ocular tubercles brings 7 stemmata (6 dorsal and 1 ventral), whose size, position and prominence have diagnostic value. The labium is sclerotized, placed in the ventral-anterior portion of the head and encased by the lateral sclerites of the head capsule



FIGURE 1. Taxonomic characters of larvae of Myrmeleontidae. A, *Euroleon nostras* dorsal and ventral views; B, head of *Myrmeleon inconspicuus*; C, head of *Macronemurus appendiculatus*; D, IX and VIII sternite of *Myrmecaelurus trigrammus*; E, IX and VIII sternite of *Creoleon lugdunensis*.

The basal portion of the palpi, inserted on the mentum, is very distinct being large and characteristically swollen. This structure is controversial and it has considered the basal article of the palpi (Frieheden 1973; Principi 1943, 1947; Nicoli Aldini 2007) or a prelabial lobe (MacLeod 1964). Depending on the chosen option the number of palpomeres loses or gains a unit. In this paper the basal article is considered as an integral part of the labial palpus, so it is normally 4-segmented, rarely 3-segmented (in M. bore). The distal palpomere bears a sensorial pit. The gula is present and recognizable in the posterior portion of the labium and prosecuting as a straight line running all along the ventral portion of the head, often reaching its posterior margin. The small ventral tentorial pits are disposed along the side of the labium. The jaws are composed by very large, sclerotized and dorsally disposed mandibles and narrow, ventrally-placed maxillae (the respective cardo and stipes are visible ventrally); both elements are elongated, forming sucking tubes by mean of the median furrow. Jaws represent a very important diagnostic feature: their relative dimensions, shape and thickness, the disposition and dimension of their teeth allow to discriminate numerous taxa. In most species (including all the European ones) the teeth are 3 in number. The chaetotaxy of the mandibles has a great diagnostic importance: number, type and thickness of the setae disposed between the mandibular teeth, on the margins and on the surface. The internal margin of the mandibles is equipped with numerous setae disposed between the teeth. In some taxa a part of them is modified and transformed in "pseudo-teeth"; it should keep in mind that the "true" characteristic teeth derived from setae-bearing jaws processes (Stange, 1970). The ventral and dorsal surface of the jaws is often covered by short setae and in some taxa by dolichasters. The external margin of the mandible is normally equipped with setae, longer toward the base. In pit-building antlions, the setae of the external margin of the mandible are very long, creating a sort of basket useful to throw grain of sands.

Thorax. The prothorax is narrower and smaller than the other two thoracic segments, which are in turn not separated from the abdomen. An anterior subsegment is overall visible in lateral view. The following and main subsegment bears the first pair of legs and its tergite is the large and sclerotized pronotum. The disposition of the setae on its dorsal surface can be useful for identification purpose. Meso- and metathorax are broader than the prothorax while only the anterior mesothoracic subsegment, bearing the only pair of thoracic spiracles, has similar width. The sclerification, shape and prominence of thoracic spiracles are often discriminating features. Both meso- and metanotum are equipped with a pair of setiferous processes on each side, they are in sub-anterior position in the case of mesonotum, definitely lateral in metanotum. The anterior pair of mesothoracic setiferous processes is the most developed and prominent in many taxa. The sub-pedunculated setiferous processes can be more or less flattened or cylindrical. The metathorax is very short on the dorsal side but wide and well developed ventrally, therefore it is dorsally partly covered by the first abdominal tergite.

Legs. The leg pairs are characterized by a similar conformation and there are not considerable differences between the prothoracic and mesothoracic pairs except the larger dimensions of the latter. They are characterized by a large and robust coxa and a not segmented tarsus. The metathoracic pair of legs is notable for the fusion of the tibia and the tarsus and the enlarged tarsal claws (only one exception is known, see Stange 1994). The tibio-tarsal fusion is a character that Myrmeleontidae share exclusively with Ascalaphidae. In the antlion tribe Myrmeleontini the metathoracic legs are stouter than the other pairs and subject to a torsion, conditioning the whole movement of the larva, a modification probably due to their pit-building habits (see Myrmeleontini). In strong burrowers and especially in pit-building species, the mesothoracic and, more prominently, the metathoracic pairs of legs are equipped with a fringe of setae to move into the sand.

Abdomen. The abdomen is not visually separated from the thorax. It is composed by 10 segments but only the first nine are normally visible. The X segment is, in fact, telescopical and retracted inside the IX and VIII segments; it is specialized to spin the silk secreted by the Malpighian tubules during the construction of the cocoon. The tergites are not always recognizable due to the soft and elastic pleural area with which they gradually merge, while the sternites are normally discernible. Each of the first eight segments is equipped with a pair of lateral spiracles. The first pair of abdominal spiracles is normally migrated dorsally. Two series of setiferous processes are disposed dorsally and ventrally in respect to the abdominal spiracles. Each urite holds a supra- and an infraspiracular process. In the I urite they are often reduced, vestigial or absent, in the VIII urite they can be fused together or reduced or absent. The VIII and especially the IX sternites are ventrally equipped with modified macrochetae used by the larvae to anchor themselves or to dig in the substratum according to their habits. Moreover, the VIII sternite is normally equipped along its posterior margin with a pair of tooth-like structures, termed odontoid processes. In some genera, specialized digging setae are also present on its surface. The IX

segment is conical, longer than wide in some genera. Nevertheless in most exponents of Myrmeleontidae this segment is short and wider than long for digging purposes. The IX sternite is equipped at its posterior margin with a pair of enlarged, sclerotized bulges each bearing 4 short and robust macrochetae, the digging setae; these structures are termed here rastra, singular rastrum (from the Latin rastrum, rastri-, rake). In some cases, other digging setae are disposed on the ventral side of the IX sternite in a more proximal position. In the tribe Palparini, the rastra, normally present in the first instar larvae, after the second moult turn in two very large, heavily sclerotized, triangular digging structures named fossoria. As a result of this conspicuous modifications the IX sternite, and in some case even the VIII, represents one of the most important features for identification purposes, especially in Myrmeleontini.

Larval development and life cycle

Myrmeleontidae, as the other families of Neuroptera, have three larval stages. The life cycle is relatively constant among the studied European species and it is possible to delineate some common development traits. The adult female carefully chooses the oviposition site according to the specific ecological requirements; the type of substrate and its physical properties, such as density and particle size often play an important role in this respect (Matsura *et al.* 2005; Devetak *et al.* 2012). The first instar larvae hatch after 20–30 days, according to the temperature. The duration of each larval stage mostly depends from food availability and temperature; antlion larvae mostly live in arid environments thus they are well adapted to food paucity and they are able to survive relatively long period of starvation. The larvae stop feeding just before moult. The overwintering stage is always represented by the larva, however the overwintering larval instar is variable even in the same species as development depends on food availability. In late spring or summer the third instar larvae spin a spherical cocoon in which they pupate. Pupation lasts at least 20–30 days according to the temperature. In southern Europe, as it is clearly indicated by field samplings and observations, almost all species are both univoltine and semivoltine, despite the development of species characterized by large body sizes can last longer.

Larval stages recognition

The most obvious difference between the larval stages of a same species is represented by dimensions, differing only in slight morphological characters. The 1st instar larva is often characterized by a comparable narrower head capsule with different relative proportions with jaws, moreover the setation covering the body is comparatively sparser. The colour pattern and especially the extension of dark markings can be very different between larval stages: first instar larvae of many species are immediately recognizable due to the darker head capsule, as the dark markings are more extended than in later instars (this does not occur in species with a pale colouring). 2nd and 3rd instar larvae are even more similar between them, with the exception of dimension.

Genus-level characters are generally distinguishable in all larval instars (see key 1). A notable (and only) exception is represented by the first instar of *Palpares*, lacking fossoria. Species recognition in first instar larvae can be very difficult instead, especially in some genera of Nemoleontini and in some *Myrmeleon*. Highly unmistakable species, such as: *D. pantherinus*, *Megistopus* spp., *G. variegata*, *A. occitanica* and *S. baetica*, are recognizable at a glance since the first instar.

Key to the European larvae of Myrmeleontidae

1	IX abdominal sternite of 2 nd and 3 rd instar with fossoria (Fig. 2A, 7)
-	IX abdominal sternite without fossoria (Figs. 2, 3, 6)
2	Mesothorax with a median tuft of hair-like setae; IX sternite conical, longer than wide; mesothoracic spiracle not raised on
	tubercle (Figs. 3A, 8)Dendroleon
-	Mesothorax without a median tuft of setae; IX sternite wider than long (Figs. 3B-H)
3	Mesothorax with pedunculated or sub-peduncolated setiferous processes (Fig. 1C)
-	Mesothorax with sessile setiferous processes only (Fig. 1B)
4	External margin of the mandible with a fringe of long setae reaching the apical tooth; basal setae longer than the width of the

	mandible (Fig. 1B)
-	External margin of the mandible with a small basal group of setae, not reaching the apical tooth and shorter than the width of
	the mandible (Fig. 25)
5	The median tooth is the largest, IX sternite with prominent rastra (Figs. 2B–D, 21)
-	The apical tooth is the largest, IX sternite without prominent rastra (Figs. 6, 26)
6	Median and apical mandibular teeth directly in contact, without setae between them (Fig. 21)
-	Median and apical mandibular teeth spaced by 1–2 setae (Fig. 22)
7	IX sternite thickly covered with small digging setae, also disposed on the ventral surface of rastra
-	IX sternite covered with few very large digging setae, 1 large digging seta at the base of each rastrum (Figs. 2C–D)
8	Presence (exclusive or not) of spiniform or stout setae on the posterior margin of the VIII abdominal sternite (Figs. 6A–H) <i>Myrmeleon</i> (key 6)
-	Posterior margin of the VIII abdominal sternite exclusively covered by hair-like setae (Fig. 6I) Euroleon
9	Anterior margin of the labrum with a pronounced rounded lobe; mandibles swollen at the base; VIII sternite covered with dig- ging setae (Fig. 24)
-	Anterior margin of the labrum without a lobe; mandible not swollen; VIII sternite without digging setae (Fig. 25) Synclisis
10	VIII abdominal sternite with prominent odontoid processes (Figs. 3B–F)
-	VIII abdominal sternite without or with very reduced odontoid processes (Figs. 3G-H)
11	Dorsal surface of the head and pronotum covered by white scale-like setae (Figs. 4B, 9)
-	Dorsal surface of the head and pronotum covered by dark bristle-like setae (Figs. 4C–H)12
12	IX sternite with an anterior group of ventral digging setae; mandibles very robust; basal and median teeth closer to each other
	than to the distal tooth (Figs. 3D, 10) Creoleon
-	IX sternite without an anterior group of ventral digging setae, mandibles comparatively slender, teeth equidistant (Figs. 3E-F).
10	
13	Pronotum with 4 dorsal parallel series of large setae (Figs. 4F, 11)
- 14	Pronotum without distinct dorsal parallel series of setae (Figs. 4C, E)
14	Pronotum covered by long setae interspersed by short spiniform ones; rastra of IX sternite with digging setae of similar size (Figs. 3C, 4C, 12)
-	Pronotum covered by long setae interspersed by dolichasters; rastra of IX sternite with inner digging seta long a half of the lon-
	gest pair (Figs. 3E, 4E)
15	Distance between the base of the mandible and the basal tooth longer than that between the basal and apical teeth; median and
	apical teeth equal sized; rastra of IX sternite with inner digging seta long a half the others (Figs. 3H, 20)Gymnocnemia
-	Distance between the base of the mandible and the basal tooth shorter than that between the basal and apical teeth; apical tooth
	larger than the median tooth; rastra of IX sternite with inner digging seta long less than a third the others (Figs. 4G, 18)

Tribe Palparini Navás, 1912

Diagnosis of 3rd **instar larva.** Head capsule with protruding ocular tubercles; mandibles armed with three to five teeth; labial palpi four articulated, at least as long as the basal width of the mandible. Thorax with pedunculated setiferous processes; abdomen with sessile setiferous processes. VIII abdominal sternite equipped with large odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite wider than long, characterized by the presence of fossoria.

Remarks. Fossoria are an exclusive character of later larval stages while 1st instar larvae are equipped with short rastra bearing four pairs of digging setae.

Biological notes. Large ambush hunter predators able to move both forward and backward.

Comments. This tribe is exclusively distributed in the Old World and it is particularly diverse in the Afrotropical region, where most of species are located. The larvae of very few species are known and even less of them are adequately described, making difficult to compare the larval characters of tribe. The fossoria are the main apomorphic characters.

Palpares Rambur, 1842

Diagnosis. Mandibles strong, equipped with at least 3 pairs of teeth; mesothoracic spiracles borne on a very short tubercle; thoracic setiferous processes prominent, first pair of mesothoracic setiferous processes provided with a forward directed tuft of setae; VIII abdominal sternite with large odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite with fossoria (2^{nd} and 3^{rd} instars only).

Examined species. P. libelluloides (Linnaeus, 1764).

Comments. The genus *Palpares* is considered polyphyletic (Mansell 1992, 2004) thus the above mentioned diagnosis is exclusively based on the type species: *P. libelluloides*, that is also the only member of the genus whose larva is sufficiently described (Brauer 1854). According to the present definition, *Palpares* comprises over 67 species widely distributed in the Old World, across the Afrotropical (the main center of distribution), Palaearctic and Oriental regions.



FIGURE 2. IX and VIII abdominal sternite of 3rd instar larvae of Palparini, Myrmecaelurini, Nesoleontini and Acanthaclisini. A, *Palpares libelluloides*; B, *Myrmecaelurus trigrammus*; C, *Cueta beieri*; D, *Cueta lineosa*; E, *Acanthaclisis occitanica*; F, *Synclisis baetica*. Scale bar: 1 mm.

Palpares libelluloides (Linnaeus, 1764)

(Figs. 2A, 7)

Despite the wide distribution and striking appearance of this species, the original descriptions and reports of its larva are surprisingly rare. The larva was described and illustrated for the first time by Brauer (1854) and later by Hagen (1873) and Redtenbcher (1884). Following descriptions are mostly based on these older accounts (Steffan 1975; Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011). In the past, the larva of this species was often confused with the equally unmistakable larvae of Acanthaclisini simply for their large dimensions (e.g. Navás 1923).



FIGURE 3. IX and VIII abdominal sternite of 3rd instar larva of Dendroleontini and Nemoleontini. A, *Dendroleon pantherinus*; B, *Nemoleon notatus*; C, *Distoleon tetragrammicus*; D, *Creoleon lugdunensis*; E, *Neuroleon assimilis*; F, *Macronemurus appendiculatus*; G, *Megistopus lucasi*; H, *Gymnocnemia variegata*. Scale bar: 1 mm.

Examined specimens. France. Aniane 44, Les Bernayves, IX.1985 (J. M. Maldes), 2 L3 (coll. B. Michel). **Italy.** Liguria, Genova, terrapieni or. (= oriental banks), V.1908 (G. Mantero), 1 L3 (coll. Museo civico di Storia naturale "G. Doria"). Liguria, 5 L1 laboratory-reared from a female collected at Cipressa (Imperia), scrubland, VII.2010 (D. Badano). Liguria, Perinaldo (Imperia), olive grove soil, VI.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L1 laboratory-reared to L2. Abruzzo, Cerchio (L'Aquila), Le Coste, III.1994 (Stornelli & G. Osella), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 4 specimens): BL 21.89 mm; HL 5.50 mm (5.15–5.85), HW 5.46 mm (5.36–5.57), ML 5.54 mm (5.33–5.95), HW/HL 0.99, ML/HL 1.01. General colouring brown with not contrasting darker markings, ventral side very pale, whitish; head capsule brown, lateral sides with large markings, ventral side of the head pale brown with dark margins, isolated brown spots are disposed at the insertion of bristles (Fig. 7h); mandibles black; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head quadrate, as long as wide, with large ocular

tubercles (Fig. 7c); margin of the labrum with a pronounced median incision (Fig. 7b); dorsal surface with a ridge starting at the very deep tentorial pit and ending laterally with a pair of tubercles (Fig. 7i); mandibles robust, as long as the head capsule; median tooth larger than the other teeth, median and apical mandibular teeth closer than the median and basal teeth (Fig. 7a); interdental mandibular setae extremely short: $(\sim 5)(3-4)(0)(0)$; a series of stout setae is distributed on the external margin of the mandibles; head surface covered by pale dolichasters. Pronotum with 4 dorsal parallel series of stout setae; mesothoracic spiracles pale on a short tubercle, surrounded by black hairs; first pair of thoracic setiferous processes (Fig. 7e) with forward directed tuft of black setae at its base (Fig. 7d). Abdominal spiracles large and dark. VIII abdominal sternite with large odontoid processes (Fig. 7g); IX sternite with fossoria (Fig. 7f).



FIGURE 4. Pronotum of 3rd instar larvae of Dendroleontini and Nemoleontini; A, *Dendroleon pantherinus*; B, *Nemoleon notatus*; C, *Distoleon tetragrammicus*; D, *Creoleon lugdunensis*; E, *Neuroleon nemausiensis*; F, *Macronemurus appendiculatus*; G, *Megistopus lucasi*; H, *Gymnocnemia variegata*. Scale bar: 1 mm.



FIGURE 5. Head of 3rd instar larvae of Myrmeleontini, ventral view; A, *Myrmeleon formicarius*; B, *Myrmeleon gerlindae*; C, *Myrmeleon punicanus*; D, *Myrmeleon bore*; E, *Myrmeleon inconspicuus*; F, *Myrmeleon mariaemathildae*; G, *Myrmeleon hyalinus*; H, *Myrmeleon fasciatus*; I, *Euroleon nostras*.



FIGURE 6. IX abdominal sternite of 3rd instar larvae of Myrmeleontini, ventral view; A, *Myrmeleon gerlindae*; B, *Myrmeleon punicanus*; C, *Myrmeleon formicarius*; D, *Myrmeleon bore*; E, *Myrmeleon inconspicuus*; F, *Myrmeleon mariaemathildae*; G, *Myrmeleon hyalinus*; H, *Myrmeleon fasciatus*; I, *Euroleon nostras*. Scale bar: 1 mm.



FIGURE 7. *Palpares libelluloides* (Linnaeus, 1764), 3rd instar larva (France: Hérault, Aniane). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–i: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Bio-ecology. *P. libelluloides* is associated with open and warm but not excessively arid environments such as grasslands, scrublands, meadows and glades. The larvae live in soil of the biotopes frequented by the adults, buried into vegetal debris and gravel among roots and stones. This species appear to prefer a coarse substratum and it is normally absent from sites with the presence of fine sand, such as coastal dunes.

Distribution. Widespread species in the western Palaearctic.

Remarks. The 1st instar larva of *Palpares* shows remarkable differences from the later stages: the odontoid processes of the VIII sternite are noticeably smaller and the IX sternite is equipped with rastra bearing 4 digging setae. Nevertheless, the 1st instar larva of *Palpares* is equally unmistakable from other antilions due to the combination of prominent ocular tubercles, the median mandibular tooth largest and presence of thoracic pedunculated setiferous processes. In the Iberian Peninsula *P. libelluloides* is sympatric with the only other European congener, *P. hispanus* Hagen, 1860; the larva of the latter is not adequately known and the old existing descriptions are unconfirmed or misidentifications (Hagen 1873; McLachlan 1873).

Tribe Dendroleontini Banks, 1899

Diagnosis of 3rd instar larva. Head capsule with small ocular tubercles; mandibles bent upward in most genera; apical tooth longer than the other teeth; labial palpi four-articulated, segments 2–4 longer than the basal width of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles not raised on tubercle. Most genera are characterized by the presence of a median tuft of setae on the mesonotum. Thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated; abdominal series of setiferous processes sessile in most genera. VIII abdominal sternite without odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite longer than wide, without rastra or fossoria.

Biological notes. The larvae are ambush hunters able to move both forward and backward.

Comments. The larvae of Dendroleontini are poorly known and only few genera are sufficiently described. The members of this group often present peculiar specializations and extra-European taxa differ in the number of mandibular teeth, presence of mesothoracic tuft of setae and development of abdominal setiferous processes.

Dendroleon Brauer, 1866

Diagnosis. Anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum slightly concave; mandibles bent upward, equipped with 3 equidistant pairs of teeth; ocular tubercles prominent but small; mesonotum with median tuft of black hair-like setae raising in proximity at the base and re-approaching at the apex; mesothoracic and abdominal spiracles not prominent; thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated; VIII abdominal sternite without odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite noticeably longer than wide, without rastra or fossoria.

Examined species. D. pantherinus (Fabricius, 1787).

Comments. Dendroleon is a widely distributed genus, present in North America, Eurasia and Australia, comprising about 20 species (Stange 2004). The larvae are known only for *D. pantherinus*, the N-American *D. obsoletus* (Say, 1839) and *D. speciosus* Banks, 1905 and finally the Taiwanese *D. esbenpeterseni* Miller & Stange, 2000 (Stange *et al.* 2003; Stange 2004, 2008).

Dendroleon pantherinus (Fabricius, 1787)

(Figs. 3A, 4A, 8)

The larva of this species was exhaustively described only once by Brauer (1867), as later accounts (Hagen 1873; Redtenbacher, 1884) are based on this study. Afterwards only few records about the finding of the larva exist (Roubal 1936; Kelner-Pillault 1967; Steinmann 1967). Gepp & Hölzel (1989) and Gepp (2010) reported the occasional synanthropy of this species and some behavioural traits.

Examined specimen. Italy. Emilia Romagna, Castel d'Aiano (Bologna), tree hole on chestnut, III.2012 (L. Colacurcio), 1 L1 laboratory-reared to L3.



FIGURE 8. *Dendroleon pantherinus* (Fabricius, 1787), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Emilia Romagna, Castel d'Aiano). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–f: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Description of 3rd **instar larva.** Size: BL 10.60 mm; HL 2.49 mm, HW 2.01 mm, ML 1.79 mm, HW/HL 0.81, ML/HL 0.72. General colouring very pale, whitish pink without contrasting markings; head capsule reddish brown, ocular tubercles black, lateral sides of the head darker, ventral side pale; mandibles reddish brown; legs pale; body covered by black setae and thinner whitish bristles. Head longer than wide, with small ocular tubercles (Fig. 8b); mandibles bent upward (Fig. 8e), shorter than the head capsule and armed with long teeth (Fig. 8a); interdental mandibular setae: (4)(1)(1)(0); few short setae are disposed on the external margin of the mandibles. Pronotum covered by black setae (Fig. 4A); thoracic setiferous processes prominent (Fig. 8c); mesonotum with a characteristic tuft of black hair-like setae holding detritus in live specimens (Fig. 8f). IX abdominal segment subconical in shape (Fig. 8d); IX abdominal sternite longer than wide, provided with long setae (Fig. 3A).

Bio-ecology. *D. pantherinus* is a poorly known species associated with temperate woods of broadleaves, apparently avoiding arid biotopes; in Italy this antlion is reported from the sea level to mountains thus appearing relatively adaptable. The larvae were collected on trees, in tree holes filled with dry detritus and under barks, moreover they are remarkably able to colonize human buildings in proximity of woods, where they hide in sheltered corners (Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010). Brauer (1867) implied that the larvae could also be found in the soil of pine woods but it is probably a speculation not supported by actual findings. The presence of specimens in artificial structures suggests that, at least potentially, it is able to colonize different kinds of cavities in forested habitats or in their proximity. The larva is an extremely motionless ambush predator, normally staying completely burrowed and covering the body with debris.

Distribution. Europe (except the Iberian Peninsula) and Caucasus; Asian records refer to closely related species (Krivokhatsky 2011).

Remarks. The larva of this species is unmistakeable and the only other European member of the tribe is *Tricholeon relictus* Hölzel & Monserrat, 2002, distributed in southern Spain. Despite the larva of this species is unknown, the South African species of *Tricholeon* differ from *Dendroleon* in the development of thoracic setiferous processes and teeth (Mansell 1988; Stange 2004).

Tribe Nemoleontini Banks, 1911

Diagnosis of 3rd instar larva. Head capsule with prominent ocular tubercles; mandibles usually equipped with three parallel teeth; apical tooth at least as long as the median tooth, often longer; labial palpi ordinarily four-articulated, segments 2–4 longer than the basal width of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles raised on tubercle. Thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated; in some genera also the abdomen provided with peduncolated setiferous processes. Odontoid processes on the VIII abdominal sternite present or absent according to the genus; IX abdominal sternite wider than long, bearing rastra equipped with digging setae.

Biological notes. The larvae are ambush hunters able to move both forward and backward.

Comments. This widespread tribe is the largest and most diverse of the whole family Myrmeleontidae, though poorly defined and lacking precise apomorphic characters (Stange 2004). The larvae of only a handful of genera are exhaustively described and the diagnostic characters are often not well defined, due to the considerable variation observed within the tribe. In particular, the larvae of some extra-Palaearctic genera considerably differ in the development of abdominal setiferous processes and, in some cases, in the reduction in the number of mandibular teeth and labial palpomeres (Miller & Stange 1985; Stange 2004).

Nemoleon Navás, 1909

Diagnosis. Mandibles slightly upturned, relatively robust, equipped with 3 teeth; head and pronotum covered by white scale-like setae and dolichasters; pronotum dorsally covered by whitish scale-like setae; mesothoracic spiracles cone-shaped raised on tubercle; mesothorax with a short anterior pair of pedunculated setiferous processes, posterior pair sub-pedunculated; VIII sternite with odontoid processes; IX sternite equipped with rastra bearing 4 digging setae of which the internal one is shorter than the others.

Examined species. N. notatus (Rambur, 1842).

Comments. A mainly Afrotropical genus, Nemoleon comprises over 20 species, of which only 3 are

distributed in the western Palaearctic region (Hölzel 2002; Stange 2004). The larvae of this genus are described here for the first time.

Nemoleon notatus (Rambur, 1842)

(Figs. 3B, 4B, 9)

The larva of this species is described for the first time.

Examined specimen. Italy. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Capocaccia, rock overhang, XI.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3, identification by biomolecular analysis.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size: BL 8.50 mm; HL 2.05 mm, HW 1.85 mm, ML 1.66 mm, HW/HL 0.90, ML/HL 0.81. General colouring dark brown, dotted with small paler markings and a median light brown stripe running on the dorsal side, ventral side paler, mottled with dark brown; head capsule dark brown with darker areas on the sides, ventral side dark brown with a pair of darker markings at the base of the mandibles (Fig. 9f); antennae black; mandibles dark brown, internal margin paler; legs pale; setae of the body mainly black, interspersed with shorter white ones. Head slightly longer than wide; dorsal side covered by whitish scale-like setae (Fig. 9b); anterior margin of the labrum covered by white dolichasters (Fig. 9d); mandibles bent upward (Fig. 9i), relatively robust, shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 9a); interdental mandibular setae whitish: (3-4)(1)(1)(0); sparse black setae are disposed on the external margin of the mandible; labial palpi covered by white dolichasters (Fig. 9g). Pronotum covered by white scale-like setae (Fig. 4B, 9c); first pair of mesothoracic setiferous processes white (Fig. 9e). Abdominal spiracles slightly raised; IX abdominal sternite ventrally equipped with a pair of spiniform setae; rastra prominent, bearing 4 digging setae of which the internal seta is the shortest (Figs. 3B, 9h).

Bio-ecology. A poorly known species, *N. notatus* is associated with open arid environments such as savannahs, while in Europe this seldom collected antlion is mainly reported from arid coastal sites. In Sardinia, this species lives in arid and rocky scrublands. The only known larva was discovered buried under a rock overhang.

Distribution. A widely distributed afrotropical taxon reaching North Africa, the Middle East and southernmost western Europe (Spain, Balearic Islands and Sardinia).

Remarks. This species is the only member of the genus whose larva is known, comprising the only other European congener, *N. poecilopterus* (Stein, 1863) distributed from south Italy eastward (Stange 2004). The larva of *N. notatus* is easily recognizable from all the other known European members of the tribe thanks to the peculiar chaetotaxy of the head and pronotum.

Creoleon Tillyard, 1918

Diagnosis. Mandibles relatively short and stout, equipped with 3 teeth, distance between the basal and median teeth smaller than that between the median and apical teeth; pronotum covered by sparse short setae; mesothoracic spiracles raised on a very short tubercle; first pair of mesothoracic setiferous processes sub-pedunculated, second pair sessile; VIII sternite provided with odontoid processes; IX sternite equipped with an anterior group of digging setae on the ventral surface and two rastra each bearing 4 digging setae.

Examined species. C. lugdunensis (Villers, 1789).

Comments. The genus *Creoleon* comprises 58 known species and it is widely distributed in Eurasia and Africa (Stange 2004). The only described larvae belong to the commonest European species: *C. lugdunensis* (Villers, 1789) (Steffan 1965, 1975) and *C. plumbeus* (Olivier, 1811) (Willmann 1977; Krivokhatsky 2011).

Creoleon lugdunensis (Villers, 1789)

(Figs. 1E, 3D, 4D, 10)

The larva of this species was described and illustrated by Steffan (1965, 1975).

Examined specimens. Italy. Campania, 9 L3 laboratory-reared from a female collected at Boscotrecase (Napoli), VI.2010 (C. Labriola); 5 L3 laboratory-reared from a female collected in the same locality, VI.2011.



FIGURE 9. Nemoleon notatus (Rambur, 1842), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Alghero, Capo Caccia). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–i: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 10. *Creoleon lugdunensis* (Villers, 1789), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Campania, Boscotrecase). dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Sicily, 2 L3 laboratory-reared from a female collected at Mazara del Vallo (Trapani), Gorghi Tondi, Mediterranean shrubland, IX.2010 (R. A. Pantaleoni).

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 16 specimens): BL 9.85 mm; HL 2.58 mm (2.39–2.73), HW 2.17 mm (2.13–2.28), ML 1.90 mm (1.76–2.05), HW/HL 0.84, ML/HL 0.74. General colouring brown with darker markings, ventral side paler with a dark pattern; head capsule brown with dark markings on the sides, ventral side with darker median areas; mandibles dark brown with blackish apex; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles noticeably robust, shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 10a); basal tooth closer to the median tooth and half of its size; interdental mandibular setae: (\sim 4)(0–1)(1)(0); short setae are present on the external margin of the mandible. Pronotum covered by short setae (Figs. 4D, 10b); mesothoracic setiferous processes sub-pedunculated (Fig. 10c). Mesothoracic and abdominal spiracles brown, mesothoracic spiracle on a stout tubercle (Fig. 10d). VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid processes; IX sternite ventrally equipped with few digging setae, rastra well developed, each bearing 4 digging setae longer externally (Figs. 3D, 10e).

Bio-ecology. *C. lugdunensis* colonizes xeric grasslands and meadows, as it is favored by the presence of sandlike substratum, thus it is often common on back dunes or fossil dunes. The larvae prefer exposed conditions, often buried among herbaceous vegetation and far from trees.

Distribution. Western Mediterranean species distributed in western Europe and North Africa.

Remarks. The European species of the genus *Creoleon* need to be revised. The status of the Thyrrenian endemism *C. corsicus* (Hagen, 1860) is unclear, as well the status of the populations of South Iberia with spotted wings attributed in the past to *C. submaculosus* (Rambur, 1842) and *C. v-nigrum* (Rambur, 1842). For this reason, all the specimens studied are from the Thyrrenic coast of Italy and Sicily (typical *C. lugdunensis*). The only other member of the genus whose larvae are known is the eastern species *C. plumbeus*, although the existing descriptions (Willmann 1977; Krivokhatsky 2011) are not adequate to differentiate it from *C. lugdunensis*. The larvae of *C. lugdunensis* are recognizable from other genera of Nemoleontini thanks to the stocky mandibles, noticeably shorter than the head capsule.

Macronemurus A. Costa, 1855

Diagnosis. Mandibles relatively strong, equipped with 3 equidistant teeth; setae covering the pronotum disposed in parallel rows; mesothoracic spiracles cone-shaped, raised on tubercle; thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated; VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite with rastra bearing digging setae of comparable length, with a shorter internal pair.

Examined species. M. appendiculatus (Latreille, 1807).

Comments. A mainly afrotropical genus with few members in the Palaearctic and in India, *Macronemurus* comprises 34 species (Stange 2004). The preimaginal stages of this genus are undescribed, except for a not diagnostic description of the 1st instar larva of *M. appendiculatus* (Insom *et al.* 1985).

Macronemurus appendiculatus (Latreille, 1807)

(Figs. 1C, 3F, 4F, 11)

The 1st instar larva of this species was concisely described and illustrated by Insom *et al.* (1985), not providing any diagnostic character.

Examined specimens. France. Gard, Pompignan, scrubland, VII.2011 (B. Michel & D. Badano), 1 L3. **Italy.** Liguria, 1 L3 laboratory-reared from a female collected at Pompeiana (Imperia), scrubland, VII.2010 (D. Badano). Liguria, Cipressa (Imperia), Colla Caravella, at the base of a pine tree, 1 L1 laboratory-reared to adult (D. Badano). Sardinia, Sassari (Sassari), Li Punti, VII.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L2 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), the base of arenaceous escarpment, VIII.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Capocaccia, coastal juniper thicket, IX.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L3; same locality, IV.2011, 1 L3; same locality, V.2012, 4 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adults. Sardinia Alghero (Sassari), Carabuffas, 3 L3 laboratory-reared from a female collected in the field (R. A. Pantaleoni).



FIGURE 11. *Macronemurus appendiculatus* (Latreille, 1807), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Alghero, Capo Caccia). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–c: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 13 specimens): BL 8.06 mm; HL 1.93 mm (1.79–2.11), HW 1.72 mm (1.60–1.94), ML 1.67 mm (1.43–2.00), HW/HL 0.89, ML/HL 0.86. General colouring yellowish brown with a dark brown pattern, markings of the dorsal side regularly disposed creating three lines, ventral side very pale, yellowish or whitish; head capsule brown, darker than the body with dark markings on the sides, ventral side of the head very pale except a dark area at the base of the mandibles; antennae black; jaws dark brown; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head a little longer than wide; mandibles shorter than the head capsule and relatively robust (Fig. 11a); interdental mandibular setae: (\sim 4)(1)(1)(0). Pronotum covered by 4 parallel rows of setae with only very small setae interspersed between them (Fig. 4F); mesothoracic spiracles conical, reddish brown (Fig. 11b). Abdominal spiracles slightly raised; IX abdominal sternite covered by long digging setae; rastra prominent, bearing 4 subequal digging setae of which the internal seta is the shortest (Figs. 3F, 11c).

Bio-ecology. *M. appendiculatus* is a very common species in south-western Europe, associated with arid grasslands and low scrublands. The larvae live in the soil in exposed conditions, among herbaceous plants and rocks; they also colonize rock crevices filled with fine substratum. Occasionally they are buried at the base of escarpments or isolated trees.

Distribution. Typical western Mediterranean faunal element, widely distributed in south-western Europe and North Africa.

Remarks. The larval stages of the other members of the genus *Macronemurus*, including the east Mediterranean vicariant species *M. bilineatus* Brauer, 1868, still need to be discovered. The larvae of *M. appendiculatus* closely resemble the yellowish species of *Neuroleon*, often sharing the same habitat, although they are easily distinguishable due to the proportionally stouter mandibles, the chaetotaxy of the pronotum and the digging setae of the IX sternite.

Distoleon Banks, 1910

Diagnosis. Mandibles equipped with 3 equidistant teeth; pronotum covered by large setae interspersed with spiniform bristles; mesothoracic spiracles raised on tubercle; first pair of mesothoracic setiferous processes pedunculated, second pair sub-pedunculated; VIII sternite with odontoid processes; IX sternite with two prominent rastra each bearing 4 sub-equal digging setae.

Examined species. D. tetragrammicus (Fabricius, 1798).

Comments. The genus *Distoleon* is a large genus, comprising at least 120 species distributed all across the Old World (Stange 2004). However, the larval stages are known only for the European *D. tetragrammicus* (Fabricius, 1798) (see below) and *D. annulatus* (Klug, 1834) (Acevedo *et al.* 2013) and for few Asiatic species (Stange *et al.* 2003; Stange 2004).

Key to larvae of the European species of Distoleon

Body colour dark brown, dorsal side of the head capsule unmarked, ventral side of the head with large markings (Fig. 12) ...
Body colour ochre, dorsal side of the head capsule with large black markings, ventral side of the head unmarked

.....D. annulatus (from Acevedo et al. 2013)

Distoleon tetragrammicus (Fabricius, 1798)

(Fig. 3C, 4C, 12)

The first report about a not pit-building antlion larva regards almost surely this species (Réaumur 1742; Bonnet 1780) but the first accurate scientific description was realized much later by Brauer (1854), subsequently it was redescribed many times (Hagen 1873; Redtenbacher 1884; Steffan 1975; Satar *et al.* 2006, Krivokhatsky 2011).

Examined specimens. France. Gard, Générac, arenaceous escarpment, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 15 L1: 10 laboratory-reared to L3, 5 laboratory-reared to adults. **Italy.** Val d'Aosta, Aymavilles (Aosta), Pont d'Ael, rock overhang in arid meadow, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Veneto, Bovolone (Verona), V.2010 (F. Sanna), 1 L3. Liguria, Perinaldo (Imperia), stone wall, VII.2011 (D. Badano), 3 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Liguria, Pompeiana (Imperia), rock escarpment, VII.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Liguria, Cipressa (Imperia), Mediterranean



FIGURE 12. *Distoleon tetragrammicus* (Fabricius, 1798), 3rd instar larva (France: Gard, Générac). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.

scrubland, under pine trees, I.2012 (D. Badano), 4 L3. Tuscany, Elba, Portoferraio (Livorno), IX.2010 (L. Forbicioni), 1 L3. Lazio, Rocca Priora (Roma), X.2011 (M. Gigli), 1 L3. Sardinia, Berchidda (Sassari), cork oak wood, pitfall trap,VII.2010, (M. Verdinelli & S. Cossu), 1 L3. **Greece**. Corfu, Kato Pauliana, rock overhang, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 24 specimens): BL 10.60 mm; HL 3.00 mm (2.41–3.33), HW 2.45 mm (2.22–2.72), ML 2.54 mm (2.24–2.76), HW/HL 0.82, ML/HL 0.85. General colouring dark brown with darker markings, abdomen with a dorsal median stripe with a characteristic pattern (Fig. 12c), ventral side paler with dark brown markings; head capsule dark brown, lateral and ventral sides with extensive dark markings (Fig. 12d); mandibles dark brown; legs yellowish or whitish; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles comparatively strong, shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 12a); interdental mandibular setae: (3–4)(1)(1)(0). Pronotum covered by large setae interspersed with short bristles (Figs. 4C, 12b). Mesothoracic and abdominal spiracles brown. VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid processes; IX sternite with a ventral pair of spiniform setae and with two small rastra each equipped with 4 sub-equal digging setae (Figs. 3C, 12e).

Bio-ecology. *D. tetragrammicus* is an euryoecious species and its larvae are able to colonize any microhabitat with presence of dry and fine substratum, thus it is very abundant and widespread. In southern Europe it is found from coastal dunes to montane forests, in a large array of habitats, always in dry conditions even if punctiform. The larvae appear avoid exposed sites, preferring protected niches such as at the base of trees or shrubs, under rocks or in their proximity. Therefore they are absent from open coastal sand dunes while they are common on back dunes with conspicuous vegetation growing. *D. tetragrammicus* larvae are frequent in rocky microhabitat such as escarpments or under overhangs and they are able to colonize similar artificial structures, such as stone walls.

Distribution. Widespread in the western Palaearctic, only avoiding cold climates and true deserts.

Remarks. The larva of *D. tetragrammicus* differs from *D. annulatus*, the only other European congener, for its overall dark brown colouring and pattern while *D. annulatus* is much paler, sand-like in colour, with contrasting dark markings (Acevedo *et al.* 2013). The pigmentation pattern of the dorsal side of the abdomen, composed by a median series of contiguous circular markings is a constant character in this species allowing the identification of all larval stages of *D. tetragrammicus*. Finally, the relatively conspicuous size of this antlion permits an immediate distinction of the 3rd instar larvae from the other known member of the tribe.

Neuroleon Navás, 1909

Diagnosis. Anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum with a small median incision; mandibles equipped with 3 teeth; pronotum covered by long setae and by dolichasters; mesothoracic spiracles conical, raised on tubercle; abdominal spiracles slightly raised; first pair of mesothoracic setiferous processes pedunculated, second pair sub-pedunculated; VIII sternite with slightly developed odontoid processes; IX sternite equipped with two short rastra each bearing 4 digging setae of which the internal seta is less than a half the size of the others.

Examined species. N. arenarius Navás, 1904; N. assimilis (Navás, 1914); N. egenus (Navás, 1914); N. microstenus (McLachlan, 1898); N. nemausiensis (Borkhausen, 1791); N. ochreatus (Navás, 1904).

Comments. Neuroleon is a large genus, including 123 species mainly distributed in the Afrotropical and western Palaearctic regions, with relatively few exponents in the Oriental region (Michel & Akoudjin 2012). The larvae are very poorly known and they have been certainly described only for *N. egenus*, *N. microstenus* and *N. ochreatus* (Auber 1956a; Steffan 1965, 1971, 1975; Devetak *et al.* 2010), see also under *N. nemausiensis*. The larvae of this genus are very homogeneous in overall morphology, lacking striking morphological differences useful to discriminate them from other genera of Nemoleontini and among themselves.

Key to the known larvae of Neuroleon

1	Dorsal side of the head capsule mostly covered by large contiguous black markings (Fig. 16)
-	Dorsal side of the head capsule without extended black markings (Fig. 13–15, 17)
2	Ventral side of the head capsule pale; general colour of the body whitish
-	Ventral side of the head capsule infuscated; general colour of the body ochre (Fig. 16)
3	Ventral portion of the head capsule with a pair of median markings (except those on the gular area); general colour of the body

	brown (Figs. 14, 15)
-	Ventral portion of the head capsule without a pair of median markings (except those on the gular area); general colour of the
	body ochre (Figs. 13, 17)
4	Mandibles relatively thin, distance between base and the basal tooth equal to that between the basal and apical teeth; ventral
	side of the head capsule with a median pair of separated spots; labial palpi dark (Fig. 14) N. assimilis
-	Mandibles relatively robust, distance between base and basal tooth smaller than that between the basal and apical teeth; ventral
	side of the head capsule with a median pair of contiguous parallel stripes; labial palpi pale (Fig. 15)
5	Dorsal side of the head with an anterior pair of brown markings disposed from the antennal pit to the posterior V-shaped mark-
	ings (Fig. 13)N. arenarius
-	Dorsal side of the head without an anterior pair of dark markings (Fig. 17)

Neuroleon arenarius Navás, 1904

(Fig. 13)

The larva of this species is described for the first time.

Examined specimens. Italy. Lazio, Roma, Monte Mario, escarpment, VII.2010 (A. Alfonsi & C. Cesaroni), 3 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult; same locality, IX.2010, 1 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Lazzaretto, arenaceous escarpment, IX.2010 (D. Badano), 2 L1 laboratory-reared to L3. Sardinia, Cagliari (Cagliari), Molentargius, rock overhang, IX.2010 (D. Badano), 2 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. **Greece.** Corfu, Korission lake, sand dunes, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 8 specimens): BL 8.20 mm; HL 1.80 mm (1.68–1.86), HW 1.44 mm (1.35–1.52), ML 1.57 mm (1.37–1.72), HW/HL 0.80, ML/HL 0.87. General colouring ochre, sand-like, with brown markings and spots; head capsule with distinctive dorsal brown markings: 2 anterior convergent stripes running from the antennal pits toward the middle dorsal portion of the head, reaching 2 posterior markings and creating a V-shaped pattern (Fig. 13b); margins of the head with brown stripes, ventral side of the head pale with a darker area at the insertion of the mandibles (Fig. 13c); labial palpi dark brown (Fig. 13d); mandibles brown; legs pale; setae of the body mostly black. Head longer than wide; dorsal side of the head capsule thickly covered by pale dolichasters; mandible comparatively strong, shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 13a); interdental mandibular setae (\sim 4)(1)(1)(0); sparse setae are present on the external margin of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles reddishbrown. IX abdominal sternite with two short rastra each bearing 4 digging setae, internal seta shorter than the others (Fig. 13e).

Bio-ecology. This species lives in open Mediterranean environments such as scrublands, open woods, grasslands and dunes. The larvae of this species have been found under rock overhangs, on escarpments of friable rocks or compacted sand hiding in recesses or burrows and even in coastal sand dunes in shaded conditions.

Distribution. Reported for southern Europe, North Africa and Israel.

Remarks. The pattern on the dorsal side of head is unique of this species.

Neuroleon assimilis (Navás, 1914)

(Figs. 3E, 14)

The larva of this species is described for the first time.

Examined specimens. Greece. Corfu, Agia Varvara, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Corfu, Acharavi, rock escarpment, V.2012 (D. Badano), 2 L3. Corfu, Lafki, rock escarpment, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Corfu, Kato Pavliana, rock overhang, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Corfu, Kato Garouna, rock overhang, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 5 specimens): BL 8.52 mm; HL 2.21 mm (1.96–2.33), HW 1.75 mm (1.70–1.87), ML 2.00 mm (1.9–2.08), HW/HL 0.79, ML/HL 0.90. General colouring pale brown mottled with dark brown, ventral side very pale with conspicuous dark brown markings; head capsule dorsally dark brown with a darker V-shaped marking on the occipital area (Fig. 14b), lateral sides with dark brown markings, ventral side of the head paler with a pair of elongated marking in the gular area, and two median dark spots (fainted in some individuals) (Fig. 14c); labial palpi dark brown (Fig. 14d); mandibles brown with basal dark spots; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; dorsal side of the head capsule with a thick covering of



FIGURE 13. *Neuroleon arenarius* (Navás, 1904), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Alghero, Lazzaretto). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 14. *Neuroleon assimilis* (Navás, 1915), 3rd instar larva (Greece: Corfu, Kato Pauliana). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.

short dolichasters; mandibles comparatively thin, slightly shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 14a); distance between mandible base and basal tooth equal to that between basal and apical teeth; interdental mandibular setae (+5)(1)(1)(0). Mesothoracic spiracles brown. IX abdominal sternite with two rastra equipped with 4 digging setae, internal seta shortest (Figs. 3E, 14e).

Bio-ecology. The biology of this species is unknown. The larvae were collected on escarpments and under rock overhangs in Mediterranean environments such as open woods, scrublands, garrigues and arid grasslands.

Distribution. This species is reported from Greece, Anatolia, Syria, Iran and Armenia.

Remarks. The larva of *N. assimilis* is identifiable thanks to the comparatively straight and thin mandibles and the pair of spots on the ventral side of the head.

Neuroleon egenus (Navás, 1914)

(Fig. 15)

The larva of *N. egenus* was described and illustrated by Steffan (1965, 1971, 1975), in the first description wrongly identified as *N. nemausiensis* (see under this species).

Examined specimens. France. Hérault, Carnon la plage, sand dunes, VII.2011 (D. Badano), 4 L3 laboratoryreared to adult. Gard, Beauvoisin, relict sand dunes, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 4 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Gard, Générac, relict sand dunes, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 2 L3. **Italy.** Liguria, Cipressa (Imperia), open pine wood, IX.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Lazio, Roma, Insugherata, IX.2010 (A. Alfonsi & C. Cesaroni), 3 L3. Sardinia, Sassari (Sassari), urban park, XI.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Platamona (Sassari), pine wood on back dunes, XII.2010 (D. Badano), 4 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), pine wood on back dunes, V.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Sardinia, Dolianova (Cagliari), cork oak wood, V.2010 (D. Badano), 2 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. **Greece.** Corfu, Acharavi, scrubland, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 18 specimens): BL 8.20 mm; HL 1.96 mm (1.68–2.22), HW 1.58 mm (1.38–1.99), ML 1.74 mm (1.41–1.99), HW/HL 0.81, ML/HL 0.89. General colouring brown with dark brown markings, ventral side paler with a dark pattern; head capsule with small markings on the dorsal side, antennal pits bordered by dark brown markings, occipital area with a V-shaped marking, lateral sides with conspicuous dark markings (Fig. 15b), ventral side of the head capsule with dark spots bordering the gula and a median pair of short parallel stripes (slightly faded in some individuals) (Fig. 15c); labial palpi pale brown (Fig. 15d); mandibles brown with a dark brown spot at the base; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; dorsal side of the head capsule covered by short and relatively sparse dolichasters; mandibles slightly shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 15a); interdental mandibular setae: (+4)(1)(1–rarely 2)(0). Mesothoracic spiracles brown. IX abdominal sternite with rastra each bearing 4 digging setae, internal seta is shorter than the others (Fig. 15e).

Bio-ecology. *N. egenus* is a relatively common and euryoecious species living in a diverse array of Mediterranean environments, from dunes to xeric woods, although it is associated with the presence of arboreal vegetation. The larvae require protected and shaded condition, such as at the base of trees where they can be noticeably abundant, buried into vegetal debris among roots. Larvae of this antlion also colonize other sheltered microhabitats, such as under rock overhangs or under shrubs. The larvae of this species are often found in small groups, in many cases composed by coetaneous specimens, probably suggesting a weak or absent dispersal behaviour from the original site of oviposition.

Distribution. Widespread along the Mediterranean Basin.

Remarks. The short parallel stripes on the ventral side of the head easily permit to discriminate this species from the congeners.

Neuroleon microstenus (McLachlan, 1898)

(Fig. 16)

The 1st instar larva of this species was firstly described by Gepp (1974), while the other stages were investigated only recently by Devetak *et al.* (2010). See also under *N. nemausiensis*.



FIGURE 15. *Neuroleon egenus* (Navás, 1915), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Liguria, Cipressa). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 16. *Neuroleon microstenus* (McLachlan, 1898), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Liguria, Bordighera, Mt. Nero). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–f: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Examined specimens. Italy. Liguria, Bordighera (Imperia), Monte Nero, rock crevices, VIII.2010 (D. Badano), 2 L3, identification by biomolecular analysis; same locality, VIII.2012, 2 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 4 specimens): BL 8.00 mm; HL 2.24 mm (1.81–2.51), HW 1.72 mm (1.57–1.82), ML 1.96 mm (1.90–2.10), HW/HL 0.77, ML/HL 0.87. General colouring light ochre with contrasting dark brown markings, ventral side pale with a dark pattern; head capsule with extensive dark markings, head dorsal side with a median pair of large dark markings creating a filled "V", lateral sides completely dark (Fig. 16b), ventral side of the head dark brown with darker markings surrounding the gula (in one specimen the markings of the lateral sides prosecute ventrally) (Fig. 16d); labial palpi black (Fig. 16e); mandibles dark brown; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; dorsal side of the head capsule covered with sparse and very short dolichasters (Fig. 16c); mandibles almost as long as the head capsule (Fig. 16a); distance between the base of the mandible and basal tooth slightly smaller than that between the basal and apical teeth; interdental mandibular setae: (3-4)(1)(1)(0). Mesothoracic spiracles ochre. IX abdominal sternite with rastra equipped with 4 digging setae, internal seta shorter than the others (Fig. 16f).

Bio-ecology. A poorly known species, *N. microstenus* is usually reported for open Mediterranean environments, especially arid rocky scrublands. The larvae were collected at the base of shrubs and in rock crevices filled with sand.

Distribution. Widespread in the Mediterranean basin, notably lacking in the Iberian Peninsula.

Remarks. Besides the body colouring and the dark pattern of the head, *N. microstenus* is recognizable by means of the sparse short dolichasters covering the dorsal side of the head capsule. Another diagnostic character of this species is the dark colour of the ventral side of the head capsule, while in the other members of the genus it is normally pale.

Neuroleon nemausiensis (Borkhausen, 1791)

(Figs. 4E, 17)

Auber (1956a) described some *Neuroleon* larvae collected in southern France as *N. nemausiensis*. Steffan (1965) wrongly attributed to *N. nemausiensis* the larvae of *N. egenus*, as stated by himself in a later paper (Steffan 1971), at the same time acknowledging the previous description of *N. nemausiensis* by Auber (1956a). Nevertheless the original account of Auber (1956a) does not agree with the specimens studied here, whose identity is verified by means of the reared adults, therefore it is not possible to speculate about the identity of the larvae observed by him. Conversely Steffan (1975) illustrated a larva as *N. microstenus* that shows a similar head pattern to the actual *N. nemausiensis*, however he did not rear it for identification. Consequently this is the first reliable description of the larva of *N. nemausiensis*.

Examined specimens. Italy. Liguria, Bordighera (Imperia), Monte Nero, rock crevices, VIII.2010 (D. Badano), 5 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory reared to adult. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Capocaccia, juniper thicket, V.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3; same locality, IX.2010, 3 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adult; same locality, IX.2011, 3 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adult; same locality, V.2012, 4 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 16 specimens): BL 8.11 mm; HL 1.94 mm (1.80–2.23), HW 1.53 mm (1.37–1.65), ML 1.61 mm (1.46–1.80), HW/HL 0.83, ML/HL 0.79. General colouring yellowish brown with dark brown markings, ventral side very pale without contrasting dark areas; dorsal side of the head capsule with large conspicuous V-shaped dark markings (Fig. 17b), antennal pits shrouded with dark brown, lateral sides with long dark markings, ventral side of the head completely pale except the dark brown labial area and a pair of dark markings bordering the gula (Fig. 17c); labial palpi dark brown (Fig. 17d); mandibles dark brown with a paler median area and a basal dark brown spot; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; dorsal side of the head capsule (Fig. 17a); distance between the base of the mandible and basal tooth shorter than that between the basal and apical teeth; interdental mandibular setae: (+4)(1-2)(1)(0). Mesothoracic spiracles reddish brown. IX abdominal sternite with two rastra bearing 4 digging setae of which the internal seta is the shortest (Fig. 17e).

Bio-ecology. *N. nemausiensis* is a frequent species in warm and arid sites such as open woods and scrublands. The larvae appear relatively adaptable in microhabitat choice and they were discovered under rock overhangs, at the base of shrubs and among stones, apparently showing a preference to live in small rock pockets filled with fine detritus.



FIGURE 17. *Neuroleon nemausiensis* (Borkhausen, 1791), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Alghero, Capo Caccia). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Distribution. A widespread species in the western Palaearctic in areas with Mediterranean climatic influences. **Remarks.** As the other *Neuroleon*, the larva of *N. nemausiensis* is distinguishable thanks to the overall body colouring and pigmentation pattern of the head.

Neuroleon ochreatus (Navás, 1904)

The larva of this species was described for the first time by Auber (1956a), followed few years later by Steffan (1965) who also included it in identification keys (Steffan 1971, 1975).

Examined specimens. France. Hérault, La Grande Motte, coastal sand dune, VII.2011 (D. Badano), 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adults.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on Steffan 1965): BL 8.64–12.40 mm, HL 1.62–1.80 mm, HW 1.62–1.89 mm, ML 1.62–1.89 mm. General colouring very pale, whitish grey with a dark pattern; dorsal side of the head capsule mostly covered by a pair black markings extending on the sides, a smaller black marking stains the tentorial pits, clypeo-labrum and area of the ocular tubercles unmarked, ventral side of the head very pale with a dark apex; legs pale; setae of the body mostly black. Head longer than wide; mandibles comparatively long, at least as the head capsule; interdental mandibular setae (+4)(1)(1)(0); sparse setae on the external margin of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles whitish. Abdominal spiracles whitish; IX abdominal sternite with two rastra equipped with 4 digging setae, internal seta less than a half the size of the others.

Bio-ecology. A poorly known species mainly reported from warm and xeric environments such as coastal sand dunes, internal sandy deposits and river banks.

Distribution. Western Mediterranean faunal element, known for the Iberian Peninsula, France and Italy.

Remarks. The larva of *N. ochreatus* is recognizable from the congeners for the whitish body colour, the large dark markings covering most of the dorsal side of the head and the whitish spiracles.

Megistopus Rambur, 1842

Diagnosis. Mandibles comparatively long, equipped with 3 pairs of teeth; pronotum covered by long setae; mesothoracic spiracles pronounced, raised on tubercle; thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated; odontoid processes of the VIII sternite atrophied or completely absent; IX sternite with rastra bearing 4 pairs of digging setae of which the internal pair is not over a quarter the others in length.

Examined species. M. flavicornis (Rossi, 1790), M. lucasi (Navás, 1912).

Comments. An exclusively western Palaearctic genus, *Megistopus* comprises 3 species: the widespread *M. flavicornis* (Rossi, 1790), *M. mirabilis* (Hölzel, 1980), known for a single specimen from Sinai and finally *M. lucasi* (Navás, 1912) reported from Algeria and Tunisia (H. Aspöck *et al.* 2001; Güsten 2003). The latter species was overlooked for a considerable time, being originally described as a member of the genus *Nelees* Navás, 1912 (now synonym of *Neuroleon* Navás, 1909), despite the correct genus placement was already recognized by Banks (1913). This interesting species is also present in Italy ([Bernardi] Iori *et al.* 1995; Letardi & Pantaleoni 1996; Letardi & Maltzeff 2001), although the Italian specimens were originally assigned to *M. mirabilis*. The larva of *M. flavicornis* is the only species of the genus whose larva is known (Steffan 1965; Cesaroni *et al.* 2010).

Key to the larvae of Megistopus

Megistopus flavicornis (Rossi, 1790)

(Fig. 18)

As the older reports actually refers to other species (Redtenbacher, 1884), the first description of the larva of *M. flavicornis* was realized by Steffan (1965). Later Cesaroni *et al.* (2010) redescribed exhaustively the larva of this species comparing it with the closely related *Gymnocnemia variegata*.

Examined specimens. France. Gard, Pompignan, dry stream sand deposits, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 2 L2, 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adults. Gard, Beauvoisin, pinewood on internal sand dune, VIII.2011, (D. Badano), 1 L2, 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adults. **Italy.** Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), pinewood on coastal dune, IV.2008 (C. Cesaroni), 4 L3; same locality, XI.2008, 2 L3. **Greece.** Chalkidiki, Mount Athos, VIII.2008 (L. Fancello), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 7 specimens): BL 10.25 mm; HL 2.35 mm (2.07–2.41), HW 1.75 mm (1.60–2.05), ML 2.16 mm (2.07–2.28), HW/HL 0.74, ML/HL 0.92. General colouring light brown, mottled with dark, ventral side pale with a dark pattern; head capsule with extensive dorsal dark markings, ocular tubercles black, ventral side of the head pale with the exception of dark markings surrounding the gula; mandibles reddish brown; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum covered by black dolichasters (Fig. 18b); mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 18a); interdental mandibular setae: (3–4)(1)(1)(0); labial palpi covered by black dolichasters (Fig. 18f). Pronotum thickly covered by black setae (Fig. 18d); mesothoracic spiracles raised on over-developed tubercles, considerably longer than the mesothoracic setiferous processes (Fig. 18c); thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated. Abdominal spiracles pedunculated and prominent, clearly visible from above (Fig. 18e); VIII abdominal sternite provided with reduced odontoid processes; IX sternite pale, without conspicuous lateral markings, rastra with the internal pair of setae less than a quarter of the others in size (Fig. 18g).

Bio-ecology. *M. flavicornis* is a relatively euryoecious species, reported for Mediterranean-like environments characterized by the presence of sand-like substratum such as coastal dunes, internal sandy deposits and river banks. The larvae are usually found in shaded conditions such as at the base of trees or in proximity of other shelters.

Distribution. Widespread in the Mediterranean basin, reaching Austria and Hungary in the north and Iran in the east.

Remarks. This antlion is distinguished by extremely developed spiracles, an unusual and rare character in the whole family Myrmeleontidae, therefore considered worth of generic value by Stange (2004). Nevertheless the discovery of the larva of *M. lucasi*, in which these structures are not overdeveloped, allows to consider this character as exclusive of *M. flavicornis*. Therefore, the larvae of the genus *Megistopus* differs from the closely related *Gymnocnemia* only in details of the mandibles and of the abdominal IX sternite.

Megistopus lucasi (Navás, 1912)

(Figs. 3G, 4G, 19)

The larva of this rare species is described for the first time.

Examined specimens. Italy. Sardinia, Arbus (Oristano), Torre dei Corsari, coastal sand dunes, V.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult; same locality, IV.2011, 4 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Sardinia, Chia (Cagliari), beach, XI.2011 (D. Badano), 2 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 7 specimens): BL 9.48 mm; HL 2.27 mm (2.15–2.49), HW 1.86 mm (1.71–1.96), ML 1.98 mm (1.90–2.22), HW/HL 0.74, ML/HL 0.92. General colouring ochre with pink shades and mottled with dark brown, ventral side very pale with dark markings; head capsule with dark occipital markings, lateral sides with dark markings, ocular tubercles black, ventral side of the head pale except the gular area; mandibles orange; legs pale; setae mostly black except some white bristles in anterior portion of the body. Head longer than wide; anterior margin of the labrum covered by white dolichasters (Fig. 19c); mandibles slender, slightly shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 19a), distance between the base of the mandible and basal tooth larger than that between the basal and apical teeth; interdental mandibular setae: (2)(1)(1)(0); labial palpi covered by whitish dolichasters (Fig. 19e). Pronotum covered by sparse setae, anterior setae paler in colour (Figs. 4G, 19b); mesothoracic spiracles cylindrical, raised on tubercle but comparatively stout, shorter than the first pair of setiferous processes (Fig. 19d); mesothoracic setiferous processes pedunculated. Abdominal spiracles slightly


FIGURE 18. *Megistopus flavicornis* (Rossi, 1790), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Alghero). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–g: diagnostic characters, see species description. (photo by C. Cesaroni).



FIGURE 19. *Megistopus lucasi* (Navás, 1912), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Chia). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–f: diagnostic characters, see species description.

protruding, not visible from above; VIII sternite without odontoid processes; IX sternite with a pair of dark markings on the side; rastra short and equipped with 4 digging setae, internal seta less than a quarter of the others in size (Figs. 3G, 19f).

Bio-ecology. *M. lucasi* is a poorly known species exclusively reported for coastal sites characterized by the presence of well preserved sand dunes. The larvae were collected in proximity of isolated junipers on open dunes, buried at the base of junipers and among their roots. In these conditions, the substratum is always composed by clean sand, without conspicuous quantities of organic debris except juniper needles. They are apparently absent from back dunes with a more thick vegetation.

Distribution. This very rare species is known for few coastal localities in Sardinia, Tyrrhenian Italy, Algeria and Tunisia.

Remarks. The larva of *M. lucasi* is characterized by an unmistakable habitus reminding *G. variegata*, despite the two species are easily set apart by the shape of the mandibles and the different hue of the body.

Gymnocnemia Schneider, 1845

Diagnosis. Mandibles long and slender, equipped with 3 pairs of teeth, median and apical teeth subequal in size; pronotum covered by sparse dolichasters; mesothoracic spiracles raised on tubercle; thoracic setiferous processes pedunculated; VIII sternite with atrophied odontoid processes; IX sternite with rastra each bearing 4 digging setae of which the internal pair reduced.

Examined species. G. variegata (Schneider, 1845).

Comments. This genus comprises two species restricted to the western Palaearctic region and closely related to *Megistopus* (H. Aspöck *et al.* 2001; Stange 2004; Michel 2013).

Gymnocnemia variegata (Schneider, 1845)

(Figs. 3H, 4H, 20)

Willmann (1977) was the first to describe the larva of this species, wrongly but dubitatively identified as *Distoleon annulatus* since the older account of *G variegata* by Hagen (1873) clearly refers to another antlion. Following mentions and illustrations (Insom *et al.* 1985; Stange & Miller 1990) are not exhaustive and the first adequate and comparative description is undoubtedly due to Cesaroni *et al.* (2010).

Examined specimens. Italy. Lazio, Roma, Monte Mario, bee-eater burrow on escarpment, VII.2010 (A. Alfonsi & C. Cesaroni), 4 L3; same locality, X.2011, 4 L3. **Greece.** Corfu, Panagias, rock escarpment in holm oak wood, V.2012 (D. Badano), 2 L3 and 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Corfu, Lafki, V.2012, (D. Badano) 2 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Corfu, Klimatia, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3, laboratory-reared to adult. Corfu, Strynialas, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 11 specimens): BL 7.41 mm; HL 2.07 mm (1.82–2.27), HW 1.71 mm (1.61–1.90), ML 2.20 mm (2.00–2.46), HW/HL 0.83, ML/HL 1.06. General colouring pale, yellowish brown with a brown pattern, ventrally paler; head capsule darker than the body, with large dark markings on the dorsal side, ventral side of the head unmarked, mandibles pale brown; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles thin, considerably longer than the head capsule (Fig. 20a); distance between the base of the mandible and basal tooth larger than that between the basal and the apical teeth (Fig. 20b); interdental mandibular setae: (6-7)(0-1)(0-1)(0); sparse setae are disposed on the external margin of the mandible. Pronotum covered by few sparse setae (Figs. 4H, 20c). Spiracles brown. VIII abdominal sternite provided with two well distinct dark spots; odontoid processes atrophied; IX sternite with rastra equipped with long and thin digging setae of which the internal pair is half the others in size (Figs. 3H, 20d).

Bio-ecology. *G. variegata* is found in Mediterranean environments such as woods and scrublands, however it is a relatively uncommon species and its presence is probably due to the strict microhabitat requirements of the larvae. The larvae are associated with rock escarpments, small caves and overhangs, especially on friable rocks or in presence of thick deposits of dry and fine detritus, where they are buried in cavities and crevices including abandoned burrows.



FIGURE 20. *Gymnocnemia variegata* (Schneider, 1845), 3rd instar larva (Greece: Corfu, Panagias). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Distribution. Widely distributed, but relatively rare, from the Mediterranean to Central Asia.

Remarks. The larva of this species is easily recognizable due to the long and thin mandibles and the body colouring.

Tribe Myrmecaelurini Esben-Petersen, 1918

Diagnosis of 3rd instar larva. Head capsule without prominent ocular tubercles; mandibles equipped with 3 teeth; median tooth longer than the other teeth; labial palpi four-articulated, segments 2–4 longer than the basal width of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles sessile. Thorax and abdomen with sessile setiferous processes. VIII abdominal sternite without odontoid processes, often equipped with digging setae; IX abdominal sternite wider than long, with prominent rastra.

Biological notes. This tribe includes both ambush hunters and pit-building species able to move both forward and backward.

Comments. Myrmecaelurini are characteristic of the steppes and deserts of the Palaearctic region while few species are reported for the Afrotropical region. The members of this tribe show a considerable variation in larval and adult characters therefore the internal relationships and with closely related tribes, such as Nesoleontini, need to be clarified.

Myrmecaelurus A. Costa, 1855

Diagnosis. Mandibles with 3 teeth, the median tooth is the largest and closer to the apical tooth than to the basal tooth; the median and apical teeth are directly in contact and not separated by setae; external margin of the mandibles covered by long setae; ocular tubercle not prominent; pronotum covered with short and robust bristles; spiracles sessile; thorax equipped with sessile setiferous processes; metathoracic legs with a fringe of setae; VIII abdominal sternite without odontoid processes and provided with numerous digging setae; IX abdominal sternite ventrally covered by digging setae and equipped with very large rastra.

Examined species. M. trigrammus (Pallas, 1771).

Comments. The mainly Palaearctic genus *Myrmecaelurus* is not well delimited and it is often subdivided in different subgenera (Aspöck *et al.* 1980), in some case raised to genus level (Krivokhatsky 2011). The presence of notable morphological differences in the larvae belonging to *Aspoeckiana* Hölzel, 1969 and *Nohoveus* Navás, 1919 (Krivokhatsky 2011) further supports their status as separated genera.

Myrmecaelurus trigrammus (Pallas, 1771)

(Figs. 1D, 2B, 21)

The first reliable larval description of this species was redacted by Redtenbacher (1883, 1884), because the previous accounts were not diagnostic and referable to other species (Brauer 1867; Hagen 1873). Curiously, in the past *M. trigrammus* was repeatedly described as the larva of other species of antlions: Redtenbacher (1883, 1884) erroneously assigned the larvae of this species also to *Creagris plumbeus*, *Macronemurus appendiculatus* and *Macronemurus bilineatus*; Doflein (1921), following the previous author, attributed them to *Macronemurus appendiculatus* and *Megistopus flavicornis*. Later Hölzel (1974) described the larva of this species mistaking it with *Myrmeleon gerlindae*. Recently the larva of this species was exhaustively treated (Willmann 1977; Popov 1984; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011; Devetak *et al.* 2013).

Examined specimens. Italy. Calabria, Strogoli (Crotone), VIII.2010 (C. Labriola), 1 L3. Sicily, Gurne dell'Alcantara (Messina), VII.2010 (A. Corso), 3 L3. **Greece.** Rhodos, Kamiros, VII.2009 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. **Romania.** Dobruja, Badabag, VIII.2010 (C. Manci), 2 L3. **Turkey.** Cappadocia, Göreme, V.2010 (A. Letardi), 3 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 9 specimens): BL 9.83 mm; HL 2.42 mm (2.29–2.59), HW 2.05 mm (1.97–2.18), ML 2.14 mm (1.78–2.32), HW/HL 0.85, ML/HL 0.88. General colouring ochre with dark



FIGURE 21. *Myrmecaelurus trigrammus* (Pallas, 1771), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Calabria, Strogoli). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.

brown markings, ventral side pale with dark spots; head capsule with dorsal and lateral sides dark brown while the area surrounding the ocelli is paler, ventral side of the head with a dark pattern (Fig. 21c); mandibles pale brown with a darker apex; setae of the body black. Head slightly longer than wide; mandibles shorter than the head capsule and comparatively robust; distance between the base of the mandible and basal tooth larger than that between the basal and the apical teeth, median tooth in contact with the apical tooth (Fig. 21a); interdental mandibular setae (+7)(2)(0)(0); external margin of the mandible with a fringe of long setae (Fig. 21b). Mesothoracic spiracles brown. Abdominal spiracles brown; VIII sternite with digging setae on the posterior margin; IX sternite with large digging setae, posterior margin with two prominent rastra bearing 4 subequal digging setae (Fig. 2B, 21d).

Bio-ecology. *M. trigrammus* is associated with steppe-like biotopes such as dry meadows and grasslands. The larvae are pit-builders but they also retain an ambush hunt behaviour that they display according to the situation. The pits are often built in open conditions, often in proximity tuft of grass, but they have also been observed near shelters such as stones, logs or rock escarpments.

Remarks. *M. trigrammus* is the only European member of the genus thus allowing to identify its larvae with ease. A similar species *M. major* McLachlan 1875 is reported from the uncertain border between Europe and Asia, however the larval stages of the latter remain unknown as well the other members of genus. The larvae of *Nohoveus zigan* H. Aspöck, U. Aspöck et Hölzel, 1980 and *Aspoeckiana uralensis* Hölzel, 1969 notably differ in the presence of setae between the median and apical mandibular teeth and in the characteristics of the IX sternite (Krivokhatsky 2011).

Tribe Nesoleontini Markl, 1954

Diagnosis of 3rd instar larva. Head capsule without prominent ocular tubercles; mandibles equipped with 3 teeth; median tooth longer than the other teeth; external margin of the mandible with long setae; labial palpi four-articulated, segments 2–4 longer than the basal width of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles raised on a very short tubercle. Thorax and abdomen provided with sessile setiferous processes. Metathoracic legs with a fringe of setae. VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite wider than long, with prominent rastra.

Biological notes. Pit-builder antlions also able to perform ambush hunting, they can move both forward and backward.

Comments. The tribe Nesoleontini comprises only 3 genera; two of them are limited to the Afrotropical region, while *Cueta* is widespread in the Old World (Stange 2004). The larvae are extremely similar to those of Myrmecaelurini, from which they differ only in small details, suggesting a close relationship between these two tribes set apart due to some adult characters, notably genitalia.

Cueta Navás, 1911

Diagnosis. Anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum with a small median incision; mandibles with 3 teeth, the median tooth is the strongest and it is closer to the apical tooth than to the basal tooth; at least 1 seta is always present between the median and apical teeth; external margin of the mandibles provided with long setae; pronotum covered with short setae; mesothoracic spiracle raised on a very short tubercle, abdominal spiracles inconspicuous; thorax with sessile setiferous processes; metathoracic legs with a fringe of setae; VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid process and digging setae; IX sternite with an anterior group of two pairs of digging setae and two rastra each bearing 4 digging setae, one large digging seta is disposed at the base of each rastrum.

Examined species. C. lineosa (Rambur, 1842); C. beieri Hölzel, 1969.

Comments. The genus *Cueta* comprises at least 80 known species distributed in the arid areas of Eurasia and Africa (Stange 2004). The larvae are known only for a handful of species (Willmann 1977; Stange *et al.* 2003; Krivokhatsky 2011).

Key to the European larvae of Cueta

1	Ventral side of the head with a pair of dark elongated markings; VIII abdominal sternite provided with broad and robust dig-
	ging setae of which the median pairs are coupled on a common protuberance; odontoid processes very small (Figs. 2D, 23)
-	Ventral side of the head unmarked; VIII abdominal sternite provided with thin and bristle-like digging setae, without median
	pairs of digging setae raised on a protuberance, odontoid processes large (Figs. 2C, 22)

Cueta beieri Hölzel, 1969

(Figs. 2C, 22)

The larva of this species was only described by Willmann (1977).

Examined specimens. Greece. Rhodos, Kamiros, VII.2009 (D. Badano), 1 L3 and 3 L3 laboratory-reared to adults; same locality XI.2010 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 4 L1 laboratory-reared to L3. Rhodos, Kiotari, XI.2010 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 2 L1 laboratory-reared to L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 7 specimens): BL 8.67 mm; HL 2.10 mm (1.81–2.25), HW 1.71 mm (1.56–1.81), ML 1.92 mm (1.67–2.09), HW/HL 0.81, ML/HL 0.91. General colouring pale brown with a dark pattern, ventral side whitish with contrasting dark markings; head capsule brown with a darker area in proximity of the clypeo-labrum, lateral sides of the head dark brown, ventral side of the head pale, unmarked (Fig. 22c); mandibles brown with a dark apex; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles comparatively robust, slightly shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 22b); median and apical teeth spaced by setae (Fig. 22a); interdental mandibular setae: (\sim 5)(3)(1–2)(0). Mesothoracic spiracles on a short black tubercle. VIII abdominal sternite equipped with large odontoid processes, posterior margin covered by relatively thin bristle-like digging setae; IX sternite with two pairs of large and stout digging setae and two rastra each bearing 4 digging setae with a large seta at their base (Figs. 2C, 22d).

Bio-ecology. *C. beieri* live in open xeric biotopes such as grassland and low scrublands. The larvae dig their pit traps in exposed conditions in loose and dry soil, often near obstacles such as rocks and roots.

Distribution. Reported from Greece, Anatolia and Middle East.

Remarks. Following Krivokhatsky (2011), *C. beieri* Hölzel, 1969 is a junior synonym of *C. anomala* Navás, 1915. Further studies are needed to verify this statement, *C. anomala* was described from only one female collected in an undetermined locality of "Persia" and the diagnostic characters of the female of *Cueta* are of uncertain value. Therefore the synonymy of *C. albanica* Capra, 1945 (known from a single female) with *C. anomala*, as suggested by Krivokhatsky (2011), is also doubtful. Consequently, despite the proposed synonymies appear justifiable, the name *C. beieri* is retained here.

Cueta lineosa (Rambur, 1842)

(Figs. 2D, 23)

The larvae are insufficiently known. Lackinger (1973) simply compared the proportions of head of this species with M. *trigrammus*, while the description of Mirmoayedi (2002) is excessively concise, even insufficient to discriminate it from other antlions.

Examined specimens. Greece. Rhodos, Vati, grassland, VII.2009 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Rhodos, Tsambika, back dune, VII.2009 (D. Badano), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 2 specimens): BL 8.75 mm; HL 1.85 mm (1.82–1.87), HW (1.37–1.45), ML 1.70 mm (1.67–1.72), HW/HL 0.76, ML/HL 0.92. General colouring light brown with brown pattern, ventral side pale ochre with contrasting dark markings; head capsule dark brown with a paler V-shaped anterior marking and a median pale stripe, lateral side with extensive markings, ventral side of the head paler with a distinctive median pair of elongated markings (Fig. 23c); mandibles pale brown, darker toward the tip; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide, relatively small in comparison to the body; mandibles almost as long as the head capsule; median and apical teeth spaced by setae (Fig. 23a); interdental mandibular setae (\sim 8)(2–3)(1)(1very small); dorsal side of the mandibles covered by few short setae, ventral side with sparse and short



FIGURE 22. *Cueta beieri* Hölzel, 1969, 3rd instar larva (Greece: Rhodos, Kiotari). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 23. *Cueta lineosa* (Rambur, 1842), 3rd instar larva (Greece: Rhodos, Tsambika). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.

setae, lateral side with a fringe of setae (Fig. 23b). Mesothoracic spiracles dark brown. VIII sternite provided with very small odontoid processes, posterior margin equipped with large and stout digging setae, the internal pairs are the largest and grouped on protuberances; IX sternite with two pairs of stout digging setae and two rastra each bearing 4 digging setae with a large seta at their base (Figs. 2D, 23d).

Bio-ecology. *C. lineosa* is associated with open and arid environments such as scrublands, steppes or even deserts. The larvae were collected in back dunes with sparse vegetation and in dry grasslands.

Distribution. Widespread in arid areas of North Africa and Eurasia.

Remarks. The larva of *C. lineosa* is notable for the presence in the mandibles of 1 seta, though very short and easily overlooked, after the apical tooth; this character is normally typical of the tribe Myrmeleontini.

Tribe Acanthaclisini Navás, 1912

Diagnosis of 3rd instar larva. Head capsule without prominent ocular tubercles; mandibles equipped from one to three teeth; labial palpi four-articulated, segments 2–4 shorter than the basal width of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles sessile. Thorax and abdomen with sessile setiferous processes. Legs with a fringe of setae. VIII abdominal sternite without odontoid processes; IX abdominal sternite bearing digging setae but without rastra.

Biological notes. The larvae of this tribe are not pit-building antlions able to move both forward and backward; some genera are characterized by the ability to move only backward.

Comments. This distinctive and widespread tribe is comparatively the better known one in the family regarding the larval stages, thanks to the review of Stange & Miller (1985).

Acanthaclisis Rambur, 1842

Diagnosis. Anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum with a median cuneiform process; mandibles swollen basally, equipped with 3 teeth of which the median tooth is slightly longer than the others; ventral portion of the head capsule with sparse setae; pronotum thickly covered by stout setae; thorax with sessile setiferous processes; VIII sternite with digging setae; IX sternite with digging setae.

Examined species. A. occitanica (Villers, 1789).

Comments. *Acanthaclisis* is a Palaearctic genus including 7 species. The larvae have been exclusively described for *A. occitanica* and *A. pallida* (McLachlan, 1887) (Brauer 1855b; Luppova 1969; Steffan 1975; Krivokathsky 2011).

Acanthaclisis occitanica (Villers, 1789)

(Figs. 2E, 24)

The larva of this species was described for the first time in a pioneering work by Percheron (1833) as *Myrmeleon libelluloides*. However, the first rigorous account was later redacted by Brauer (1855b), also detailing its ecology and behaviour (Brauer 1855b). This large species was treated many times (Hagen 1873; Redtenbacher 1884; Steffan 1975; Willmann 1977; Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011). In the XIX century the larva of this antlion was repeatedly confused with *Synclisis baetica*, much more easier to find in the field (Dufour 1854; Ferrari 1864; Girard 1875; Dubois 1899).

Examined specimens. Portugal. Estremadura, San Martinino, VII.1996 (A. Molinu), 2 L3. **Italy.** Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Maria Pia, back dunes, IV.2008 (C. Cesaroni), 1 L3; same locality, XI.2009 (D. Badano), 1 L2. Sardinia, Spiaggia del Liscia (Nuoro), IX.2009 (L. Lenzini), 3 L3. Sardinia, Sa Tiria Posada (Nuoro), V.2006 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L2. Sardinia, Scivu, Arbus, back dune (Oristano), V.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L2.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 6 specimens): BL 23.37 mm; HL 4.58 mm (4.43–4.89), HW 3.75 mm (3.69–3.92), ML 3.55 mm (3.42–3.72), HW/HL 0.82, ML/HL 0.78. General colouring grey with a dark pattern, ventral side pale with dark spots; head capsule with conspicuous dark markings on the dorsal and lateral sides (Fig. 24c), ventral side of the head pale with a dark area covering the mouthparts and isolated spots at the



FIGURE 24. *Acanthaclisis occitanica* (Villers, 1789), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Spiaggia del Liscia). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description. (photo by C. Cesaroni).

insertion of ventral setae (Fig. 24d); mandibles completely black; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head rectangular, a little longer than wide; anterior margin of the labrum with a cuneiform process bearing setae on the external margin (Fig. 24b); mandibles very strong, shorter than the head capsule, noticeably broader in correspondence of basal tooth, apical tooth at a different angle than the other teeth (Fig. 24a); interdental mandibular setae: $(\sim 2)(1)(1)(0)$; external margin of the mandibles covered by bristle in the basal half. Mesothoracic spiracles dark. Abdominal spiracles dark; VIII sternite with ventral stout digging setae; IX sternite rounded in shape, equipped with robust digging setae similar to those disposed on the previous sternite (Figs 2E, 24e).

Bio-ecology. The larvae of *A. occitanica* are typical inhabitants of back dunes with a relatively complex vegetation, characterized by the presence of bushes or trees, where the sand is rich in organic debris acquiring a dark colour. Nevertheless this antlion is also found in sandy habitats far from the coast such as fluvial deposits, steppes and relict dunes. The larvae are often hidden among roots, near tree bases or under shrubs.

Distribution. Widespread in the western Palaearctic. This species was notably reported from coastal sites on the North and Baltic seas, where it is now extinct (Brauer 1855b).

Remarks. *A. occitanica* is the only member of the genus in western Europe while in Russia it is also present the closely related *A. pallida*, whose larva was described by Luppova (1969); according to this account, the larvae of the two species apparently differ only in the colour of the mandibles.

Synclisis Navás, 1919

Diagnosis. Mandibles with 3 equidistant teeth, the apical tooth is the largest; no setae between the base of the mandible and basal tooth; thorax covered by short setae; thorax with sessile setiferous processes; legs with a fringe of setae on the posterior side of the tibia, particularly evident in the metathoracic leg; VIII abdominal sternite without digging setae; IX abdominal sternite triangular in shape with a median series of digging setae.

Examined species. S. baetica (Rambur, 1842).

Comments. The genus *Synclisis* comprises 3 Palaearctic species of which only *S. baetica* belongs to the European fauna; a fourth species from Madagascar is considered of doubtful taxonomic placement (Stange 2004). The larvae have been described for *S. baetica* and *S. kawaii* (Nakahara, 1913) (Principi 1947; Stange & Miller 1985; Stange *et al.* 2003).

Synclisis baetica (Rambur, 1842)

(Figs. 2F, 25)

The remarkable larva of this species has a surprisingly long history of misidentifications with *A. occitanica* (Dufour 1854; Ferrari 1864; Girard 1875; Dubois 1899) and even with *Palpares* (McLachlan 1873; Navás 1923). The first description with correct identification was realized by Redtenbacher (1884), followed few years later by an anatomic study by Meinert (1889) despite the latter author identified this species as "*Myrmeleon pallidipennis* Rambur?". The best study on the biology of this species is the excellent work of Principi (1947) dealing the life cycle, the larval morphology, ecology and behaviour. This antlion is probably the better known European non pitbuilding species being extensively studied (Richard 1952; Richard & Pons 1952; Saffré 1957; Steffan 1975; Stange & Miller 1985; Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011).

Examined specimens. Italy. Lazio, Sabaudia (Latina), V.2006 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L3. Sardinia, Sassari (Sassari), Porto Ferro, coastal dune, V.1999 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 2 L3; same locality VII.1999 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 2 L2. Sardinia, Sorso (Sassari), Platamona, coastal dune, V.1994 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L1 and 4 L2; same locality IV.1999 (C. Cesaroni), 1 L3; same locality IX.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3; same locality VIII.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Maria Pia, coastal dune, V.1992 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L3; XI.2009 (D. Badano), 2 L3. Sardinia, Arbus (Oristano), Torre dei Corsari, coastal dune, IV.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L3. **Tunisia.** Tunis, Plage Rafraf VI.2006 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L3. Zoiraâ beach, VI.2006 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L2 and 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 12 specimens): BL 19.60 mm; HL 4.55 mm (4.09–5.00), HW 3.62 mm (3.10–4.27), ML 3.55 mm (3.51–4.42), HW/HL 0.80, ML/HL 0.78. General colouring very pale, sand-like with a conflicting black pattern on the dorsal side, ventral side whitish, unmarked; head capsule with a dorsal



FIGURE 25. *Synclisis baetica* (Rambur, 1842), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Sorso, Platamona). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.

pair of large dark markings (Fig. 25b), lateral and ventral sides unmarked (Fig. 25c); mandibles light brown with a dark apex; legs pale; body covered by both black and robust setae and by whitish hair-like ones. Head rectangular, longer than wide; mandibles strong, slightly shorter than the head capsule (Fig. 25a); interdental mandibular setae: (0)(1-2)(1-2)(0); short setae are disposed on the external margin of the mandibles from the base to the apical tooth. Mesothoracic and abdominal spiracles dark. VIII abdominal sternite covered by large setae, thicker in proximity of the distal margin; IX sternite triangular in shape, with a transversal series of dark digging setae, caudal margin provided with large setae (Figs. 2F, 25d).

Bio-ecology. *S. baetica* is strictly associated with extensive sandy biotopes with limited vegetal covering, therefore it is a characteristic element of open coastal sand dunes although also reported from internal sandy habitats. It is a particularly common species in relatively undisturbed coastal dunes of the Mediterranean. The larvae of *S. baetica* are often buried at the base of psammophilus plants, where they are protected from atmospheric agents. The larvae are aggressive and active predators, able to rapidly pursue the prey for a short distance; during the day they are hidden under the sand surface, ambush hunting, while during the night they roam freely on the dunes.

Distribution. A widespread species in the western Palaearctic.

Remarks. Highly unmistakeable larva without closely related species in the western Palaearctic.

Tribe Myrmeleontini Latreille, 1802

Diagnosis of 3rd instar larva. Head capsule without prominent ocular tubercles; mandibles equipped with three pairs of parallel teeth; external margin of the mandible provided with long setae; apical tooth longer than the median tooth; labial palpi commonly four-articulated (three-articulated in some species), segments 2–4 shorter than the basal width of the mandible. Mesothoracic spiracles not raised on tubercle, abdominal spiracles inconspicuous. Thorax and abdomen equipped with sessile setiferous processes. Metathoracic legs with a fringe of setae; VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid processes; IX with rastra and specialized digging setae.

Biological notes. Obligate pit-builders able to move only backward.

Comments. This large and widespread tribe comprises the most common pit-builder antlions. The larvae of most genera are known, appearing noticeably uniform in overall morphology (Stange 2004).

Myrmeleon Linnaeus, 1767

Diagnosis. Anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum slightly concave; mandibles with 3 equidistant teeth of which the apical one is the strongest, although only slightly, 1 seta is always present after the apical tooth, external margin of the mandibles provided with long setae; labial palpi normally four-articulated (with few exceptions); pronotum covered by short stout setae; meso- and metathorax with sessile setiferous processes; VIII abdominal sternite provided with odontoid processes (slightly pronounced in some species) and with spiniform or stout setae on the posterior margin; IX abdominal sternite at least with an anterior row group of digging setae and two short rastra each bearing 4 digging setae, some species are provided with additional ventral digging setae.

Examined species. *M. formicarius* Linnaeus, 1767; *M. gerlindae* Hölzel, 1974; *M. punicanus* Pantaleoni & Badano, 2012; *M. bore* (Tjeder, 1941); *M. inconspicuus* Rambur, 1842; *M. mariaemathildae* Pantaleoni, Cesaroni & Nicoli Aldini, 2010; *M. hyalinus* Olivier, 1811; *M. fasciatus* (Navás, 1914).

Comments. This cosmopolite genus is the most speciose in the whole family, comprising about 180 species (Stange 2004), despite the reciprocal relationships among species and closely related genera are unclear. The larvae of a notable number of species have been described, resulting the better known genus in this respect (Stange 2004), although the state of knowledge regarding the ecological requirements and morphology of most species is very inadequate, especially for tropical ones. The larvae of most European species have been described (see text).

Key to the known larvae of European Myrmeleon

1	Labial palpi 3-articulated (Fig. 5D)
-	Labial palpi 4-articulated (Fig. 5E)
2	IX abdominal sternite with anterior row of digging setae composed by 4 setae (Figs. 6A, 6G)
-	IX abdominal sternite with anterior row of digging setae composed by at least 6 (exceptionally 5) setae (Figs. 6E, 6F)7
3	Coxae of the hind pair of legs with large dark markings (Figs. 26–28)
-	Coxae of the hind pair of legs without markings (Figs. 32, 33)
4	Ventral side of the mandible with a covering of setae external to the maxilla reaching the basal tooth; femora of the hind pair of legs spotless (Fig. 27)
-	Ventral side of the mandible with a covering of setae external to the maxilla reaching the middle tooth; femora of the hind pair
	of legs spotted (Figs. 26, 28)
5	Small larva, head capsule length less than 2 mm, mesothoracic coxae unspotted (Fig. 28)
-	Large larva, head capsule length more than 2 mm, mesothoracic coxae spotted (Fig. 26)
6	Ventral side of the head with a pair of dark elongated markings; ventral side of the mandible with a very sparse covering of setae external to the maxilla; body with a recognizable dark pattern (Fig. 32)
-	Ventral side of the head without markings; ventral side of the mandible with a thick covering of setae external to the maxilla; body without contrasted dark areas (Fig. 33)
7	Dark habitus; IX abdominal sternite with the anterior row of digging setae composed by equal-sized setae (Figs. 6E, 30) <i>M.inconspicuus</i>
-	Pale habitus; IX abdominal sternite with the anterior row of digging setae composed by large setae disorderly interspersed with shorter ones (Figs. 6F, 31)

Myrmeleon formicarius Linnaeus, 1767

(Figs. 5A, 6A, 26)

Linnaeus (1745, 1758) attributed to this species some larvae that he observed in Öland (Sweden), nevertheless the larva of this antlion was described for the first time more than a century later by Brauer (1853) as *M. formicalynx* (see also under *E. nostras*). The larva of *M. formicarius* is one of the best known in the family and it was treated in numerous studies (Hagen 1873; Redtenbacher 1883, 1884; Doflein 1916; Eglin 1940; Friheden 1973; Steffan 1975; Matsura 1987; Eisenbeis & Wichard 1987; Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011).

Examined specimens. Portugal. Parque Nacional da Penada, VII.2011 (B. Michel), 2 L3. **Italy**. Val d'Aosta, Aymavilles (Aosta), Pont d'Ael, under rock overhang, VIII.2012 (D. Badano), 4 L3. Piedmont, Torino (Torino), VII.2010 (A. Alma), 4 L3. Tuscany, Follonica (Grosseto), VII.2010 (M. Bastianini), 2 L3. Tuscany, Montieri (Grosseto), VII.2010 (M. Bastianini), 2 L3. Tuscany, Casale Marittimo (Pisa), VII.2010 (M. Bastianini), 4 L3. Lazio, Roma (Roma), Prataglia di Cervara, VI.2010 (M. Gigli), 2 L3. Sicily, Mt. Etna, VII.2010 (F. Camino), 1 L3. **Romania.** Dobruja, Badabag, VIII.2010 (C. Manci), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 22 specimens): BL 9.11 mm; HL 2.28 mm (2.11–2.55), HW 2.04 mm (1.80–2.42), ML 2.41 mm (2.14–2.70), HW/HL 0.89, ML/HL 1.06. General colouring dark brown with a dark pattern, ventral side pale with dark spots; dorsal side of the head capsule with large paired markings, lateral side of the head with large dark markings, ventral side mottled with dark brown with a pair of large spots (Figs. 5A, 26c), mandibles pale brown; legs pale, metathoracic pair of legs with dark spots on the coxae and femora (Fig. 26d); setae of the body black. Head slightly longer than wide; mandibles relatively robust, as long as the head capsule (Fig. 26a); interdental mandibular setae: (+6)(2-3)(2-3)(1); dorsal side of the mandible covered by sparse, short setae, ventral side with a thick covering of short setae external to the maxilla, reaching the median tooth and very few setae internal to the maxilla (Figs. 5A, 26b). IX abdominal sternite with an anterior row of digging setae composed by 4 setae divided in 2 groups and with two sessile rastra each bearing 4 digging setae (Figs. 6A, 26e).

Bio-ecology. *M. formicarius* is one of the commonest European species despite in southern Europe it is limited to mountainous habitats or to suitable fresh lowland biotopes, avoiding warm and arid sites. This species prefers habitats characterized by the presence of arboreal vegetation and of loose dry substratum. The larvae build their pits both in exposed and sheltered conditions such as under tuft of plants, rock overhangs or in proximity of small escarpments.

Distribution. Widespread Palaearctic species.



FIGURE 26. *Myrmeleon formicarius* Linnaeus, 1767, 3rd instar larva (Italy: Lazio, Roma, Prataglia di Cervara). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Remarks. The larva of *M. formicarius* is the only species in central and northern Europe with spotted metathoracic legs. The 3rd instar larva is also recognizable due to the large dimensions, being the largest European member of the tribe.

Myrmeleon gerlindae Hölzel, 1974

(Figs. 5B, 6B, 27)

The larva of this species is described for the first time, as the account by Hölzel (1974) actually refers to *Myrmecaelurus trigrammus*.

Examined specimens. Italy. Liguria, Bordighera (Imperia), Monte Nero, scrubland, VIII.2010 (D. Badano), 3 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Capocaccia, coastal juniper thicket, VI.2010, 1 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult; same locality, V.2012 (D. Badano), 11 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 15 specimens): BL 7.68 mm; HL 1.85 mm (1.58–2.00), HW 1.60 mm (1.44–1.73), ML 1.77 mm (1.62–1.92), HW/HL 0.86, ML/HL 0.96. General colouring dark brown with darker markings, ventrally paler with large dark areas; dorsal side of the head capsule with a pair of dark markings, lateral side of the head with large dark markings, ventral side of the head with an anterior pair of dark markings surrounding the gula and two median dark spots (Figs. 5B, 27c); mandibles pale brown; pro- and mesothoracic pair of legs pale, metathoracic legs with spotted coxae but unmarked femora (Fig. 27d); setae of the body black. Head slightly longer then wide; mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 27a); interdental mandibular setae: (+6)(2–3)(2–3)(1), dorsal side of the mandible covered by sparse short setae, ventral side with a sparse covering of short setae external to the maxilla, reaching the basal tooth and few isolated setae (or no one) disposed internal to the maxilla (Figs. 5B, 27b). IX abdominal sternite with an anterior row of digging setae composed by 4 setae divided in 2 groups and with two sessile rastra each bearing 4 digging setae (Figs. 6B, 27e).

Bio-ecology. This poorly known antlion is apparently an ecological vicariant of the closely related *M. formicarius*, replacing the latter in xeric biotopes. *M. gerlindae* is associated with arid woods and scrublands. The larvae build their pits in sheltered sites such as at the base of trees, under bushes or rock overhangs.

Distribution. *M. gerlindae* is a typical W-Mediterranean faunal element, reported for Morocco, Iberian Peninsula, southern France, Sardinia and western Liguria (north-west Italy).

Remarks. Mainly recognizable due to the pigmentation of legs.

Myrmelon punicanus Pantaleoni & Badano, 2012

(Figs. 5C, 6C, 28)

A recently described species (Pantaleoni & Badano 2012) whose larva has not been compared with other congeners.

Examined specimens. Italy. Sicily, Mazara del Vallo (Trapani), Gorghi Tondi, IX.2011 (M. Romano), 3 L3. Pantelleria (Trapani), Bugeber, V.2010 (A. Corso), 3 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 6 specimens): BL 8.57 mm; HL 1.93 mm (1.84–2.03), HW 1.64 mm (1.56–1.75), ML 1.90 mm (1.86–1.93), HW/HL 0.85, ML/HL 0.98. General colouring dark brown with a dark pattern, ventral side pale with large dark spots; dorsal side of the head capsule brown with small dark markings, lateral side of the head with large dark markings, ventral side of the head paler with an anterior pair of dark markings surrounding the gula and a two median dark spots (Figs. 5C, 28c); mandibles pale brown; pro- and mesothoracic pair of legs pale with darker suffusions at the proximal section of the tibiae and of the tarsi (Fig. 28d), metathoracic pair of legs pale with conspicuous dark spots on the coxae and on the femora (Fig. 28e); setae covering the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 28a); interdental mandibular setae: (2-4)(2)(2)(1); dorsal side of the jaws covered by sparse and short setae, ventral side with a thick covering of short setae external to the maxilla, reaching the median tooth, few setae disposed internal to the maxilla, reaching the basal tooth (Figs. 5C, 28b). IX abdominal sternite equipped with an anterior row of digging setae and with two sessile rastra each bearing 4 digging setae (Figs. 6C, 28f).



FIGURE 27. *Myrmeleon gerlindae* Hölzel, 1974, 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Alghero, Capo Caccia). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 28. *Myrmeleon punicanus* Pantaleoni & Badano, 2012, 3rd instar larva (Italy: Pantelleria, Bugeber). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–f: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Bio-ecology. *M. punicanus* is a pit-builder species associated with Mediterranean forest environments. The larvae were collected in scrublands in small patches of loose soil, under the shelter of rock overhangs and vegetation.

Distribution. Exclusively reported for Sicily and Pantelleria.

Remarks. The larva of *M. punicanus* reminds a miniature version of *M. formicarius*, however it is distinguished by the dark soffusions at the articulations of the legs.

Myrmeleon bore (Tjeder, 1941)

(Figs. 5D, 6D, 29)

The first observations of the larva of this antion predate the species description (Schenck 1877; Dewitz 1882) while the first actual description dates back to almost a century later (Friheden 1973). It was redescribed by Matsura (1987) and Nicoli Aldini (2007), who compared it with closely related species. This species is finally treated in some monographic volumes (Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011).

Examined specimens. Germany. Mecklenburg Vorpommern, Graal Müritz, VI.2011 (C. Kehlmaier), 3 L3. **Italy.** Lombardy, Pieve Albignola (Pavia), Cascinotto Mensa, IX.1979 (R. Nicoli Aldini), 2 L3. Lombardy, Casterno (Milano), Ticino River, V.2012 (D. Piccolino), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 6 specimens): BL 8.31 mm; HL 2.06 mm (1.90–2.20), HW 1.74 mm (1.61–1.84), ML 2.25 mm (2.13–2.34), HW/HL 0.84, ML/HL 1.09. General colouring pale brown mottled with dark brown, ventrally very pale with dark brown spots; dorsal side of the head capsule with large markings on the clypeo-labrum and posterior V-shaped marking, lateral sides of the head with dark markings, ventral side of the head pale with a pair of median dark spots (Figs. 5D, 29c); mandibles pale brown with a dark apex; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles slightly longer than the head capsule (Fig. 29a); interdental mandibular setae: (\sim 5)(2–3)(2–3)(1); ventral side of the mandible with few setae at the base; labial palpi 3-articulated (Figs. 5D, 29b). IX abdominal sternite with sparse ventral digging setae, followed by an anterior row of digging setae and two sessile rastra each bearing 4 bristles (Figs. 6D, 29d).

Bio-ecology. *M. bore* lives in fresh environments and it is absent from areas influenced by a Mediterranean climate. *M. bore* is associated with sandy biotopes such as coastal dunes, river banks and internal sand deposits. The pits are built in exposed conditions, although the first stages are often found in proximity of vegetation.

Distribution. Widespread in the Palaearctic, from western Europe eastward to Japan.

Remarks. The larva of *M. bore* is the only known European antlion with 3 palpomeres. This species is similar to *M. inconspicuus* and to the non sympatric *M. mariaemathildae* in overall morphology; it is differentiated by the larger dimensions and the relative proportions of the mandibles and the head capsule.

Myrmeleon inconspicuus Rambur, 1842

(Figs. 5E, 6E, 30)

The larva of this species was described for the first time by Redtenbacher (1883, 1884), as *Myrmeleon erberi* Brauer, 1868. The better existing description of this antlion is undoubtedly the masterly study of Principi (1943), detailing its morphology, ecology and behaviour. The larva of *M. inconspicuus* has been redescribed in several occasions mainly for identification purposes (Steffan 1975; Hölzel & Gepp 1989; Nicoli Aldini 2007; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 2011).

Examined specimens. Italy. Val d'Aosta, Aymavilles (Aosta), Pont d'Ael, rock overhang, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Veneto, Venezia (Venezia), Punta Sabbioni, III.2012 (E. Ruzzier), 7 L3. Campania, Castelcivita (Salerno), Calore River, VII.2010 (C. Labriola), 2 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (SS), Porticciolo, sand beach, III.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Lazzaretto, sand beach, X.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), Lazzaretto, sand beach, X.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Sorso (Sassari), Platamona, coastal dune, VIII.2012 (D. Badano), 3 L3. Sicily, Gurne dell'Alcantara (Messina), VII.2010 (A. Corso), 5 L3. **Greece.** Corfu, Korission lake, coastal dune, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Corfu, Agia Varvara V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. **Romania.** Dobruja, Agigea, VIII.2010 (C. Manci), 1 L3. Dobruja, Badabag, VIII.2010 (C. Manci), 1 L3. **Tunisia.** Gammarth, VII.2010 (local collector), 5 L3.



FIGURE 29. *Myrmeleon bore* (Tjeder, 1941), 3rd instar larva (Germany: Mecklenburg Vorpommern, Graal Müritz). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 30. *Myrmeleon inconspicuus* Rambur, 1842, 3rd instar larva (Italy: Veneto, Venezia, Punta Sabbioni). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–c: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 35 specimens): BL 8.08 mm; HL 1.70 mm (1.52–1.92), HW 1.48 mm (1.38–1.65), ML 1.67 mm (1.33–1.85), HW/HL 0.87, ML/HL 0.98. General colouring greyish ochre with a dark brown pattern, ventrally paler with dark brown markings; dorsal side of the head capsule with large dark markings on the clypeo-labrum, lateral sides of the head with dark markings, ventral side of the head pale with a pair of dark spots (Figs. 5E, 30b;); mandibles pale brown; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head slightly longer than wide; mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 30a); interdental mandibular setae: (\sim 5)(2–3)(2–3)(1); dorsal side of the mandible covered by few short setae disposed toward the margins, ventral side, followed by a row composed by at least 5 equal-sized digging setae, rastra each bearing 4 digging setae of which the external ones are the longest (Figs. 6E, 30c).

Bio-ecology. A relatively euryoecious species, *M. inconspicuus* is associated with sandy environments such as coastal dunes, sub-deserts, internal sand deposits and banks of watercourses, besides it also colonizes other microhabitat with presence of loose substratum such as dry open woods or grasslands. The larvae build their pits in exposed conditions, often in proximity of vegetation such as at the base of trees growing on back dunes. *M. inconspicuus* is often the most common pit-building antlion on coastal sand dunes, colonizing both open dunes than back dunes with a complex vegetation, despite in the southern coasts of the Mediterranean it is replaced by more termophilous species in exposed conditions.

Distribution. Widespread in the western Palaearctic region.

Remarks. The larva *M. inconspicuus* resembles other congeners with which it is often syntopic such as *M. bore* and especially the closely related *M. mariaemathildae*. This species is mainly recognizable thanks to pigmentation and disposition of digging setae on the IX abdominal sternite. According to Krivokhatsky (2011), the larva of the similar *M. immanis* Walker, 1853 is differentiated by the shape of markings on the clypeo-labrum.

Myrmeleon mariaemathildae Pantaleoni, Cesaroni & Nicoli Aldini, 2010

(Figs. 5F, 6F, 31)

The larva of this antlion was concisely treated in the species description (Pantaleoni et al. 2010).

Examined specimens. Italy. Sardinia, Sorso (Sassari), Platamona, coastal dunes, VIII.2012 (D. Badano), 3 L3. Sardinia, Cabras (Oristano), Tharros, coastal dunes, III.2011 (D. Badano), 1 L3. **Tunisia.** Tabarka, VII.2006 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 5 L3. Gammarth, VII.2010 (local collector), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 10 specimens): BL 9.28 mm; HL 1.70 mm (1.60–1.81), HW 1.48 mm (1.42–1.57), ML 1.64 mm (1.54–1.80), HW/HL 0.87, ML/HL 0.96. General colouring pale ochre with dark markings, ventral side paler with dark spots; dorsal side of the head capsule with anterior dark markings, lateral sides of the head with small dark marks, ventral side of the head pale with a pair of median spots of variable intensity according to individual (sometimes absent) (Figs. 5F, 31b); mandibles pale brown; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head slightly longer than wide; mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 31a); interdental mandibular setae: (4-5)(1-2)(1-2)(1); dorsal side of the mandible with a sparse covering of short setae on the margins, ventral side of the mandible with few isolated setae at the base. IX abdominal sternite equipped with irregularly disposed ventral digging setae and a row composed by large bristles irregularly interspersed with small setae; rastra not prominent, each bearing 4 digging setae of which the external ones are the longest (Figs. 6F, 31c).

Bio-ecology. The larvae of this recently described species usually colonize open coastal sand dunes with a vegetation covering limited to pioneer psammophilous plants. The pits are normally built in exposed conditions, often at the base of tufts of herbs.

Distribution. Exclusively reported from Sardinia and Tunisia.

Remarks. The larva of *M. mariaemathildae* is very similar to the closely related *M. inconspicuus* noticeably differing in the paler colouring of the body and in the IX abdominal sternite. The same characters permit to distinguish this species from other European congeners. In Sardinia, *M. mariaemathildae* shares similar ecological requirements with *M. hyalinus* but the two species cohabit only in few sites with moderate anthropic disturbance.



FIGURE 31. *Myrmeleon mariaemathildae* Pantaleoni, Cesaroni & Nicoli Aldini, 2010, 3rd instar larva (Italy: Sardinia, Sassari, Platamona). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–c: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Myrmeleon hyalinus Olivier, 1811

(Figs. 5G, 6G, 32)

The larva of this antlion was described for the first time by Auber (1956b) and later by Willmann (1977).

Measured specimens. Italy. Sardinia, Alghero (Sassari), under rock overhang, VIII.2010 (D. Badano & R. A. Pantaleoni), 6 L3; same locality, IX.2010 (D. Badano), 1 L3. Sardinia, Cagliari (Cagliari), Molentargius, sand deposits, XI.2011 (D. Badano), 3 L3. Sardinia, Chia (Cagliari), coastal dune, XI.2011 (D. Badano), 5 L3 and 1 L3 laboratory-reared to adult. Sicily, Mazara del Vallo (Trapani), Gorghi Tondi, IX.2010 (M. Romano), 5 L3; same locality, IX.2011, 7 L3. Sicily, Mazara del Vallo (Trapani), Capo Feto, IX.2010 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 2 L3. Sicily, Linosa Island (Agrigento), IX.2010 (A. Corso), 3 L3. **Greece.** Rhodos, Tsambika, coastal dunes, XI.2010 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 1 L3. **Morocco.** Tissint, III.2011 (A. Corso), 4 L3. **Tunisia.** Ras Remel, V.2010 (A. Corso), 3 L3. **Egypt.** Sharm el Sheikh, IX.2010 (A. Corso), 1 L3. Feiran Oasis, IX.2010 (A. Corso), 1 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 40 specimens): BL 8.08 mm; HL 1.74 mm (1.44–2.00), HW 1.30 mm (1.06–1.49), ML 1.64 mm (1.38–1.91), HW/HL 0.75, ML/HL 0.94. General colouring pale ochre with dark markings, ventral side whitish with dark markings; head capsule pale with anterior dark markings, ventral side of the head completely pale except a distinctive pair of median elongated markings (slightly faded in some specimens) (Figs. 5G, 32c), lateral sides of the head pale; mandibles pale; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head noticeably longer than wide, rectangular in shape (Fig. 32b); mandibles almost as long as the head capsule (Fig. 32a); interdental mandibular setae: (7)(2-3)(2-3)(1); dorsal side of the mandible bearing few short setae, ventral side covered by sparse, short setae external to the maxilla and few setae disposed internally to the maxilla. IX abdominal sternite equipped with an anterior row of 4 digging setae and with two sessile rastra each bearing 4 digging setae of which the external pair is the longest (Figs. 6G, 32d).

Bio-ecology. *M. hyalinus* is a characteristic species of warm open sandy biotopes such as coastal dunes and deserts. In southern Europe, this species is common on sand beaches although it also colonizes internal sandy deposits. The larvae of *M. hyalinus* build the pits in exposed condition often at the base of tufts of psammophilous plants or bushes, avoiding retrodunal environments with a closer vegetation. Exceptionally this species may be found in different microhabitats such as arenaceous escarpments and overhangs.

Distribution. Widely distributed in the Palearctic region from the Canary Islands to Iran, across southern Europe and North Africa, reaching Ethiopia in the south.

Remarks. Besides body colouring, *M. hyalinus* is unmistakable among European Myrmeleontini due to the rectangular head shape. In Sardinia *M. hyalinus* rarely cohabits with *M. mariaemathildae*, despite they share similar habitat preferences.

Myrmeleon fasciatus (Navás, 1914)

(Figs. 5H, 6H, 33)

The larva of this species has been exclusively described by Willmann (1977).

Examined specimens. **Greece.** Rhodos, Kiotari, rock overhang, VII.2009 (D. Badano), 1 L3 and 3 L3 laboratory-reared to adults; same locality, XI.2010 (R. A. Pantaleoni), 19 L3. Rhodos, Kamiros, XI.2010, R. A. Pantaleoni, 8 L3; Rhodos, Kallitea, XI.2010, R. A. Pantaleoni, 3 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 31 specimens): BL 9.34 mm; HL 1.95 mm (1.70–2.20), HW 1.58 mm (1.37–1.77), ML 2.00 mm (1.76–2.10), HW/HL 0.81, ML/HL 1.03. General colouring pale ochre with few slightly faded markings, ventral side whitish without contrasting dark areas; head capsule pale with a slightly darker area on the clypeo-labrum, lateral and ventral sides of the head unmarked (Figs. 5H, 33c); mandibles pale; legs pale; setae of the body black. Head longer than wide; mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 33a); interdental mandibular setae: (6)(2-3)(2-3)(1); dorsal side of the mandible covered by sparse short setae, ventral side of the mandible with a thick covering of short setae external to the maxilla reaching the apical tooth (Figs. 5H, 33b), few setae are disposed on ventral side of the mandible internally to the maxilla. IX abdominal sternite equipped with an anterior row of 4 digging setae and two rastra each bearing 4 setae of which the external pair is the longest (Figs. 6H, 33d).



FIGURE 32. *Myrmeleon hyalinus* Olivier, 1811, 3rd instar larva (Italy: Lampedusa, Spiaggia dei Conigli). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.



FIGURE 33. *Myrmeleon fasciatus* (Navás, 1912), 3rd instar larva (Greece: Rhodos, Kiotari). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–d: diagnostic characters, see species description.

Bio-ecology. *M. fasciatus* inhabits very warm and xeric biotopes, including deserts. The larvae build their pits in sheltered conditions, such as under overhangs and cavities of sedimentary rocks, with the presence of very fine detritus or sand.

Distribution. *M. fasciatus* is widely distributed in North Africa and Middle East, while its presence in Europe is limited to the Greek island of Rhodos.

Remarks. Unmistakable among European Myrmeleontini thanks to the pale body colouring devoid of a contrasting dark pattern.

Euroleon Esben-Petersen, 1918

Diagnosis. Anterior margin of the clypeo-labrum slightly concave; mandibles with 3 equidistant teeth of which the apical tooth is slightly longer than the others; 1 seta after the apical tooth; external margin of the mandible with long setae; pronotum covered by sparse short setae; meso- and metathorax with sessile setiferous processes; VIII abdominal sternite with odontoid processes, posterior margin covered by long and thin setae; IX abdominal sternite equipped with an anterior row of digging setae and two short rastra each bearing 4 digging setae.

Examined species. E. nostras (Geoffroy in Fourcroy, 1785).

Comments. *Euroleon* is a small genus, closely related to *Myrmeleon*, comprising only 6 described species of exclusively Palaearctic distribution. The larval stages of the widespread European *E. nostras* were described numerous times since the XVIII century (see text), while those of eastern species, *E. parvus* Hölzel, 1972, *E. polyspilus* (Gerstaecker, 1885) and *E. coreanus* Okamoto, 1926 were treated only recently (Krivokhatsky 1994, 2011).

The morphological characters of *Euroleon* fall in the range of variability shown by the numerous species included in the closely related genus *Myrmeleon*. The larvae of *Euroleon* are differentiated by the hair-like setae covering the posterior margin of the VIII abdominal sternite, while at least in the European species of *Myrmeleon* the VIII abdominal sternite is equipped with short or spiniform setae.

Euroleon nostras (Geoffroy in Fourcroy, 1785)

(Figs. 1, 5I, 6I, 34)

The pit-building behaviour of this species attracted the attention of early naturalists such as Réaumur (1742) and Rösel von Rosenhof (1755) who treated its life history. Nevertheless the first scientific description was realized only a century later by Brauer (1857) actually naming this species *Myrmeleon formicarium* (see also under *M. formicarius*). Probably due its abundance in Europe, this antlion was extensively redescribed and it is probably one of the better known member of the family (Hagen 1873; Redtenbacher 1883, 1884; Eglin 1939, 1940; Friheden 1973; Steffan 1975; Gepp & Hölzel 1989; Gepp 2010; Krivokhatsky 1994, 2011). The account of Principi (1943) is particularly noteworthy for its accuracy and level of detail.

Examined specimens. France. Gard, Beauvoisin, relict sand dunes, VIII.2011 (D. Badano), 4 L3. **Germany.** Saxony, Dresden, VIII.2010 (C. Kehlmaier), 4 L3. **Italy.** Val d'Aosta, Aymavilles (Aosta), Pont d'Ael, rock overhang, VIII.2012 (D. Badano), 2 L3. Lombardy, Zelo Buon Persico (Lodi), VII.2010 (D. Scaccini), 7 L3; same locality, X.2011, 1 L3. Liguria, Mt. Toraggio (Imperia), rock overhang, VII.2010 (D. Badano), 2 L3. Lazio, Roma (Roma), Prataglia di Cervara, VI.2010 (M. Gigli), 1 L3. Lazio, Roma (Roma), Mt. Mario, IX.2010 (A. Alfonsi & C. Cesaroni), 1 L3. **Greece.** Corfu, Nissaki, V.2012 (D. Badano), 1 L3. **Turkey.** Cappadocia, 2 km from Göreme, V.2010 (A. Letardi), 1 L3. **Georgia.** Tbilisi (surroundings), VIII.2011 (C. Deiaco), 25 L3.

Description of 3rd instar larva. Size (based on 46 specimens): BL 9.32 mm; HL 2.24 mm (1.91–2.55), HW 1.84 mm (1.57–2.13), ML 2.26 mm (2.00–2.60), HW/HL 0.82, ML/HL 1.01. General colouring reddish brown with dark markings, ventral side pale with large dark markings; dorsal side of the head capsule with an anterior pair of spots and a V-shaped brown marking, ventral side of the head pale mottled with brown, with a median pair of elongated markings and a pair of spots (Figs. 51, 34c); mandibles pale brown, lateral sides of the head with dark markings. Head longer than wide; mandibles as long as the head capsule (Fig. 34a); interdental mandibular setae (\sim 4)(2)(2)(1); dorsal side of the mandible covered by short setae both on the external and internal margin, ventral side with a thick covering of short setae external to the maxilla, reaching the basal tooth (Figs. 5I, 34b) and with



FIGURE 34. *Euroleon nostras* (Geoffroy in Fourcroy, 1785), 3rd instar larva (Italy: Latium, Roma, Prataglia di Cervara). Dorsal (above), ventral (middle) and lateral (below) view; a–e: diagnostic characters, see species description.

sparse setae disposed internal to the maxilla (Fig. 34a). Posterior margin of VIII sternite covered by hair-like setae (Fig. 6I; 34d); IX abdominal sternite with an anterior row of 4 digging setae and with two short rastra each bearing each 4 digging setae (Figs. 6I, 34e).

Bio-ecology. *E. nostras* is an euryoecious species reported from a vast array of biotopes from the sea-level to mountains, despite avoiding very xeric environments. The pits are built in sheltered conditions wherever a suitable loose substratum is present, thus the larvae are normally found under rock overhangs, near escarpments, at the entrance of caves and at the base of trees. Generally *E. nostras* prefers woody environments and in open sites, such as river banks and dunes, it is found in protected conditions. The requirement for sheltered corners predisposes this antlion to live in proximity of artificial structures such as buildings, rock walls and bridges. Interestingly the larvae of *E. nostras* are often found in unreachable corners for themselves such as tree holes, probably representing oviposition sites of females

Distribution. Widespread in the western Palaearctic.

Remarks. The larvae of *E. nostras* are noticeably similar to the species of *M. formicarius*-group in the overall habitus and the disposition of digging setae on the IX abdominal sternite, however they are recognizable for the absence of spots on the metathoracic pair of legs. Moreover the reddish colour of the body permits an easy identification of this antlion.

Discussion

Larval morphology appears to be an important tool to improve the systematics of the family Myrmeleontidae. The western European fauna is relatively small, however the comparison between genera and tribes performed during the present study allows to draw some relevant preliminary conclusions. The first instar larva of *Palpares*, the only European member of Palparini, is equipped with rastra not dissimilar from the other member of the family, while the conspicuous fossoria appear only in later instars thus probably representing an adaptation to burrowing backward in a large-sized larva. Overall the morphological features of the larvae of Palparini do not warrant their status as separated subfamily as already underlined by Mansell (2004). The larva of Dendroleon, the only examined member of Dendroleontini, is characterized by a peculiar morphology that is a clear adaptation to a life as an ambush predator in small, dark cave-like habitats; further studies on the larvae of this complex tribe are necessary. The larvae of genera of Nemoleontini are noticeably uniform and conservative in morphology, often differing only in minor morphological features such as chaetotaxy, confirming the validity of this taxon. The tribes Myrmeleontini, Acanthaclisini, Myrmecaelurini and Nesoleontini share a combination of common characters such as: sessile ocular tubercles, labial palpi shorter than mandible width, mesothoracic spiracles not raised, thorax with sessile setiferous processes, meso- and metathoracic pair of legs with a fringe of setae, suggesting a close relationship as already noted on adult characters for some of these tribes (Markl 1954). Myrmecaelurini and Nesoleontini appear to be extremely close as their larvae are noticeably similar without prominent diagnostic features. Interestingly some characters shared between Myrmeleontini, Myrmecaelurini and Nesoleontini are however due to convergence in the pit-building behaviour, such as the long setae on the external margin of the mandible. At the same time, the conspicuous differences in the digging structures of the IX sternites between Myrmeleontini and Myrmecaelurini/Nesoleontini clearly suggest that the pit-building behaviour evolved independently at least two times in this group. A deep and comprehensive study of the larvae of genera of this group is necessary to solve the relationship of this lineage.

The European fauna approximately comprises 50 species of Myrmeleontidae, excluding Macaronesian islands and few Centro-Asiatic species reaching the ill defined border between Europe and Asia (H. Aspöck *et al.* 2001). Larval stages are known for slightly less than a half of them and often their descriptions are inadequate or lacking in-depth comparisons. The present research includes 28 species, of which 9 are accurately described for the first time, thus covering most species of western and central Europe. Nevertheless the state of knowledge of the larvae of European Myrmeleontidae is far from be considered exhaustive, as the larvae and ecology of many southern European species are still unknown (mostly rare non pit-building antlions). Finally, a serious obstacle is represented by the still confused taxonomic conditions of the most species genera.

Acknowledgments

The present research would not have been possible without the invaluable collaboration of numerous entomologists and enthusiast naturalists, who provided specimens or guided the author in the field, contributing to a detailed study of these secretive insects. Grateful thanks to: Alfonso Alfonsi (Roma), Carlo Cesaroni (Ministero delle politiche agricole, Roma), Loris Colacurcio (Zola Predosa, Bologna), Andrea Corso (Siracusa), Luca Fancello (Cagliari), Leonardo Forbicioni (Portoferraio, Livorno), Maurizio Gigli (Roma), Christian Kehlmaier (Senckenberg Natural History Collections Dresden, Dreden, Germany), Claudio Labriola (Portici, Napoli), Luigi Lenzini (Roma), Agostino Letardi (ENEA Casaccia, Roma), Cosmin O. Manci (Romania), Marco Paglialunga (Pesaro), Danilo M. Piccolino (Vigevano, Pavia), Marcello Romano (Capaci, Palermo), Enrico Ruzzier (Mirano, Venezia), Francesco Sanna (Bovolone, Verona) and Davide Scaccini (Zelo Buon Persico, Lodi). Special thanks to Bruno Michel (CIRAD–CBGP, Montpellier, France) for the support in field research and for providing access to the resources of his institution. Finally the authors wish to thank the anonymous referees for their valuable comments to the manuscript.

References

- Ábrahám, L. & Papp, Z. (1990) Preliminary report on the larva of *Myrmecaelurus zigan* Aspöck, Aspöck et Hölzel, 1980 (Planipennia: Myrmeleonidae). *Folia Historico-Naturalia Musei Matraensis*, 15, 37–42.
- Acevedo, F., Monserrat, V.J. & Badano, D. (2013) The larvae of the two European species of genus *Distoleon*: *D. annulatus* (Klug, 1834) and *D. tetragrammicus* (Fabricius, 1798). A comparative description (Insecta, Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). *Zootaxa*, 3721, 488–494.
- Aspöck, H., Aspöck, U. & Hölzel, H. (1980) Die Neuropteren Europas. Eine zusammenfassende Darstellung der Systematik, Ökologie und Chorologie der Neuropteroidea (Megaloptera, Raphidioptera, Planipennia) Europas. Goecke and Evers, Krefeld, Germany, 495 + 355 pp.
- Aspöck, H., Hölzel, H. & Aspöck, U. (2001) Kommentierter Katalog der Neuropterida (Insecta: Raphidioptera, Megaloptera, Neuroptera) der Westpaläarktis. *Denisia*, 2, 1–606.
- Aspöck, U. (1992) Crucial points in the phylogeny of the Neuroptera (Insecta). In: Canard, M., Aspöck, H. & Mansell, M.W. (Eds.), Current Research in Neuropterology. Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Neuropterology (24–27 June 1991, Bagnères-de-Luchon, Haute-Garonne, France). Privately printed, Toulouse, France, pp. 63–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3113.2001.00136.x
- Aspöck, U., Plant, J.D. & Nemeschkal, H.L. (2001) Cladistic analysis of Neuroptera and their systematic position within the Neuropterida (Insecta: Holometabola: Neuropterida: Neuroptera), *Systematic Entomology*, 26, 73–86.
- Auber, J. (1956a) Les espèces françaises du genre Neuroleon (Névropt. Planipennes). Vie et Milieu, 7, 95-100.
- Auber, J. (1956b) Au sujet de la larve du Myrmeleon hyalinus Olivier. L'entomologiste, 12, 69-71.
- Banks, N. (1913) Notes on African Myrmeleonidae. Journal of the New York Entomological Society, 21, 149–157.
- [Bernardi] Iori, A., Kathirithamby, J., Letardi, A., Pantaleoni, R.A. & Principi, M.M. (1995) 62. Neuropteroidea (Megaloptera, Raphidioptera, Planipennia), Mecoptera, Siphonaptera, Strepsiptera. *In*: Minelli, A., Ruffo, S. & La Posta, S. (Eds.), *Checklist delle specie animali italiane*. Calderini Editore, Bologna, 20 pp.
- Beutel, R. G., Friedrich, F. & Aspöck, U. (2010) The larval head of Nevrorthidae and the phylogeny of Neuroptera (Insecta). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 158, 533–562.
 - http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.2009.00560.x
- Bonnet, C. (1780) Oeuvres d'histoire naturelle et de philosophie. Vol. 2. cfr. Marc-Michel Rey, Amsterdam, pp. 277-289.
- Brauer, F. (1853) Vergleichende Beschreibung der Larven des Myrmecoleon formicarius L. und M. formicalynx T (sic!). Verhandlungen des Zoologisch-Botanischen Vereins in Wien, 3, 144–145.
- Brauer, F. (1854) Beiträge zur Kenntniss des inneren Baues und der Verwandlung der Neuropteren. Verhandlungen des Zoologisch-Botanischen Vereins in Wien, 4, 463–472.
- Brauer, F. (1855a) Beiträge zur Kenntniss der Verwandlung der Neuropteren. Verhandlungen des Zoologisch-Botanischen Vereins in Wien, 5, 479–484.
- Brauer, F. (1855b) Beiträge zur Kenntniss der Verwandlung der Neuropteren. Verhandlungen des Zoologisch-Botanischen Vereins in Wien, 5, 777–786.
- Brauer, F. (1867) Beschreibung und Verwandlung des *Dendroleon pantherinus* Fbr. und Vergleich der bis jetzt bekannten Myrmeleoniden- und Ascalaphiden-Larven. *Verhandlungen der Kaiserlich-Königlichen Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien*, 17, 963–966.
- Cesaroni, C., Nicoli Aldini, R. & Pantaleoni, R.A. (2010) The larvae of Gymnocnemia variegata (Schneider, 1845) and Megistopus flavicornis (Rossi, 1790) (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae): a comparative description. In: Devetak, D., Lipovšek, S., Arnett, A.E. (Eds.), Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Neuropterology (22–25 June 2008,

Piran, Slovenia). University of Maribor, Maribor, Slovenia, pp. 135–144.

- Devetak, D., Novak, T. & Janžekovič, F. (2012) Effect of substrate density on behaviour of antlion larvae (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). *Acta Oecologica/Oecologia Applicata*, 43, 1–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2012.05.010
- Devetak, D., Klokočovnik, V., Lipovšek, S., Bock, E. & Leitinger G. (2013) Larval morphology of the antlion *Myrmecaelurus trigrammus* (Pallas, 1771) (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae), with notes on larval biology. *Zootaxa*, 3641, 491–500. http://dx.doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3641.4.14
- Devetak, D., Lipovšek, S. & Pabst, M.A. (2010) Larval morphology of the antlion *Neuroleon microstenus* (McLachlan, 1898) (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae), with notes on larval biology. *Zootaxa*, 2428, 55–63.
- Dewitz, H. (1882) Ueber die Führung an den Körperanhängen der Insecten, speciell betrachtet an der Legescheide der Acridier, dem Stachel der Meliponen und der Mundtheilen der Larve von *Myrmeleon*, nebst Beschreibung dieser Organe. *Berliner Entomologische Zeitschrift*, 26, 51–68.

Doflein, F. (1916) Der Ameisenlöwe. Eine biologische, tierpsychologische und reflexbiologische Untersuchung. Verlag von Gustav Fischer, Jena, 138 pp.

http://dx.doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.28979

- Doflein, F. (1921) Ameisenlöwe. In: Mazedonien. Erlebnisse und Beobachtungen eines Naturforschers im Gefolge des deutschen Heeres. Verlag von Gustav Fischer, Jena, pp. 473–483.
- Druce, G.C. (1923) An account of the Murmhkolewn or Ant-lion. Antiquaries Journal, 3, 347-364.
- Dufour, L. (1854) Excursion entomologique aux dunes de Biscarosse et d'Arcachon. Actes de la Société Linnéenne de Bordeaux, 19, 283-317.
- Du Bois, E.R. (1899) Notes sur l'habitat des pseudo-névroptères et névroptères de la Gironde. *Feuille des Jeunes Naturalistes*, 29, 50–53.
- Eglin, W. (1939) Zur Biologie und Morphologie der Raphidien und Myrmeleoniden (Neuropteroidea) von Basel und Umgebung. Verhandlungen der Naturforschende Gesellschaft in Basel, 50, 163–220.
- Eglin, W. (1940) Die Neuropteren der Umgebung von Basel. Revue Suisse de Zoologie, 47, 243–358.
- Eisenbeis, G. & Wichard, W. (1985) *Atlas zur Biologie der Bodenarthropoden*. Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart, 434 pp. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39392-1
- Ferrari, G.F. (1864) Kleiner Beitrag zur Käferfauna Venedigs und des Lido, mitgetheilt von einem süddeutschen Entomologen. *Wiener Entomologische Monatsschrift*, 8, 105–113.
- Friheden, J. (1973) Morphological characteristics of North-European myrmeleontid larvae (Neuroptera). *Entomologica Scandinavica*, 4, 30–34.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/187631273x00039

- Gepp, J. (1974) Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Neuropteren der Türkei. Entomologische Berichten, 34, 102-104.
- Gepp, J. (2010) Ameisenlöwen und Ameisenjungfern. Myrmeleontidae. Eine weltweite Betrachtung unter besonderer Berücksichtigung Mitteleuropas. 3., neubearbeitete Auflage. Die Neue Brehm-Bücherei 589. Westarp Wissenschaften-Verlagsgesellschaft, Hohenwarsleben, Germany, 168 pp.
- Gepp, J. & Hölzel, H. (1989) Ameisenlöwen und Ameisenjungfern. Myrmeleonidae. Die Neue Brehm-Bücherei 589. A. Ziemsen Verlag, Wittenberg Lutherstadt, 108 pp.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mmnd.19900370105

- Girard, M. (1875) Myrméléontides du sud-ouest de la France. Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France, 5.
- Güsten, R. (2003) A checklist and new species records of Neuropterida (Insecta) from Tunisia. Kaupia, 12, 129-149.
- Hagen, H.A. (1873) Die Larven von Myrmeleon. Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung, 34, 249–295, 377–398.
- Hölzel, H. (1974) Ein neuer trichterbauender Ameisenlöwe aus Südwesteuropa (Planipennia). Nachrichtenblatt der Bayerischen Entomologen, 23, 81–85.
- Hölzel, H. (2002) Neuroptera collected by the German Yemen expeditions 1996, 1998 und 2000 (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae, Hemerobiidae, Berothidae, Mantispidae, Nemopteridae, Myrmeleontidae, Ascalaphidae). *Esperiana*, 9, 129–146.
- Insom, E., Del Centina, P. & Carfi, S. (1985) II. Contributo alla conoscenza della fauna Neurotterologica italiana (Neuroptera: Raphidioptera, Planipennia). *Redia*, 65, 105–121.
- Kelner-Pillault, S. (1967) *Étude écologique du peuplement entomologique des terreaux d'arbres creux*. Thèse présentée à la Faculté des Sciences de l'Université de Paris. Masson & c.ie, Editeurs, Paris, France, 228 pp.
- Kevan, D.K.McE. (1992) Antlion ante Linné: [Murmhkolewn] to Myrmeleon (Insecta: Neuroptera: Myrmeleon[t]idae). In: Canard, M., Aspöck, H. & Mansell, M.W. (Eds.), Current Research in Neuropterology. Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Neuropterology (24-27 June 1991, Bagnères-de-Luchon, Haute-Garonne, France). Privately printed, Toulouse, France, pp. 203–232.
- Krivokhatsky, V.A. (1994) Antlion larvae of the genus *Euroleon* E.–P. (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae). *Kharkov Entomological Society Gazette*, 2, 49–61.

Krivokhatsky, V.A. (2011) Antlions (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae) of Russia. KMK, Saint Petersburg, Russia, 334 pp.

- Lackinger, H. (1973) Unterschiede im Verhalten zwischen Larven einiger Ameisenlöwenarten einschliesslich des Wurmlöwen (*Vermileo vermileo*) beim Sandfallenbau. Zeitschrift der Arbeitsgemeinschaft Österreichischer Entomologen, 24, 66–72.
- Letardi, A. & Maltzeff, P. (2001) Neurotteridi e Mecotteri della Tenuta Presidenziale di Castelporziano e delle aree limitrofe (Neuroptera, Raphidioptera, Mecoptera). *Bollettino dell'Associazione Romana di Entomologia*, 54, 49–62.

- Letardi, A. & Pantaleoni, R.A. (1996) Neurotteri W-paleartici del Museo di Zoologia di Roma (Insecta Neuropteroidea). *Fragmenta Entomologica*, 28, 277–305.
- Linnaeus, C. (1745) Öländska och Gothländska Resa på Riksens Högloflige Ständers befallning förrättad åhr 1741. Med Anmärkningar uti Oeconomien, Natural-Historien, Antiquiteter &c. med åtskillige Figurer. Stockholm och Upsala. Hos Gottfired Kiesewetter [1–13], 1–344 pp. [index 1–27], [errata 1–2]
- Linnaeus, C. (1758) Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Tomus I. Editio decima, reformata. Holmiæ, Impensis Direct. Laurentii Salvii, pp. [1–4], 1–824.
- Lipovšek Delakorda, S., Pabst, M.A. & Devetak, D. (2009) Morphology of eyes and sensilla in antlion larvae (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). In: Pabst, M.A.& Zelling, G. (Eds.), MC2009. Microscopy conference, Graz (Austria) 30 August-4 September 2009. First joint meeting of Dreiländertagung & Multinational Congress on Microscopy. Vol. 2. Life Sciences. Verlag der Technischen Universität Graz, Austria, pp. 403–404.
- Luppova, Е.Р. [Луппова, Е.П.] (1969) К морфологии и биологии личинки муравьиного льва Acanthaclisis pallida McLachlan (Neuroptera, Myrmeleonidae), Докл. АН Тадж. ССР. Т., 12, 68–71.
- MacLeod, E.G. (1964) *A comparative morphological study of the head capsule and cervix of larval Neuroptera (Insecta)*. Ph.D. dissertation. Harvard University, Cambridge, USA, 528 pp.
- Mansell, M.W. (1988) The Myrmeleontidae (Neuroptera) of southern Africa: Genus. *Tricholeon* Esben-Petersen. *Neuroptera International*, 5, 45–55.
- Mansell, M.W. (1992) Key characters in the phylogeny and classification of Palparini (Insecta: Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). In: Canard, M., Aspöck, H. & Mansell, M.W. (Eds.), Current Research in Neuropterology. Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Neuropterology (24–27 June 1991, Bagnères-de-Luchon, Haute-Garonne, France). Privately printed, Toulouse, France, pp. 243–254.
- Mansell, M.W. (1999) Evolution and success of antlions (Neuropterida: Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). Stapfia, 60, 49-58.
- Mansell, M.W. (2004) Antlions of southern Africa: Annulares nov. gen. (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae, Palparini) including two
- new species, with comments on the tribe Palparini. *Denisia*, 13, 201–208. Markl, W. (1954) Vergleichend-morphologische Studien zur Systematik und Klassifikation der Myrmeleoniden (Insecta, Neuroptera). *Verhandlungen der Naturforschende Gesellschaft in Basel*, 65, 178–263.
- Matsura, T. (1987) Nomenclature of the Japanese pit-building antlions (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae). Kontyû, 55, 543-548.
- Matsura, T., Yamaga, Y. & Itoh, M. (2005) Substrate selection for pit making and oviposition in an antlion, *Myrmeleon bore* Tjeder, in terms of sand particle size. *Entomological Science*, 8, 347–353. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-8298.2005.00134.x
- McLachlan, R. (1873) Neuropterologisches. Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung, 34, 444-451.
- Meinert, F. (1889) Contribution à l'anatomie de Fourmilions. Oversigt over det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskabs Forhandlinger 1889, 43-66.
- Michel, B. (2013) A new species of *Gymnocnemia* Schneider, 1845 from Morocco with additional diagnostic data for the genus. *Zootaxa*, 3710, 93–98.
 - http://dx.doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3710.1.7
- Michel, B. & Akoudjin, M. (2012) Review of *Neuroleon* Navás of west Africa with descriptions of four new species (Neuroptera, Myrmeleontidae). *Zootaxa*, 3519, 32–52.
- Miller, R.B. & Stange, L.A. (1985) Description of the antlion larva *Navasoleon boliviana* Banks with biological notes (Neuroptera; Myrmeleontidae). *Neuroptera International*, 3, 119–126.
- Mirmoayedi, A. (2002) Description of the third stage larvae of *Cueta lineosa* (Rambur, 1842) (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae) rearing for the first time in Iran. *Kharkov Entomological Society Gazette*, 10, 122–123.
- Navás, L. (1923) Fauna de Catalunya. Entomologia de Catalunya. Neuròpters. Fascicle I. Neuròpters Propis. Publicacions de l'Institut d'Estudis Catalans, seccio de Ciències, Barcelona, Spain, 270 pp.
- Nicoli Aldini, R. (2007) Observations on the larval morphology of the antlion *Myrmeleon bore* (Tjeder, 1941) (Neuroptera Myrmeleontidae) and its life cycle in the Po Valley (northern Italy). *In*: Pantaleoni, R.A., Letardi, A. & Corazza, C. (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Ninth International Symposium on Neuropterology (20–23 June 2005, Ferrara, Italy)*. Annali del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Ferrara, 8, 59–66.
- Pantaleoni, R.A. & Badano, D. (2012) *Myrmeleon punicanus* n. sp., a new pit-building antlion (Neuroptera Myrmeleontidae) from Sicily and Pantelleria. *Bulletin of Insectology*, 65, 139–148.
- Pantaleoni, R.A., Cesaroni, C. & Nicoli Aldini, R. (2010) *Myrmeleon mariaemathildae* n. sp.: a new Mediterranean pitbuilding antlion (Neuropterida Myrmeleontidae). *Bulletin of Insectology*, 63, 91–98.
- Percheron, A. (1833) Note sur la larve du *Myrmeleon libelluloïdes*. (Extrait d'une Monographie de la tribu des Myrméléonides.). *In*: Guérin-Meneville, *Magasin de Zoologie, d'Anatomie Comparée et de Palaeontologie*, 3, Classe IX, pl. 59, [6 pp.].
- Popov, A. (1984) The development of *Myrmecaelurus trigrammus* Pall. (Myrmeleonidae). *In*: Gepp, J., Aspöck, H. & Hölzel, H. (Eds.), *Progress in World's Neuropterology. Proceedings of the 1st International Symposium on Neuropterology (22–26 September 1980, Graz, Austria)*, Privately printed, Graz, Austria, pp. 249–251.
- Principi, M.M. (1943) Contributi allo studio dei Neurotteri Italiani. II. *Myrmeleon inconspicuus* Ramb. ed *Euroleon nostras* Fourcroy. *Bollettino dell'Istituto di Entomologia della R. Università degli Studi di Bologna*, 14, 131–192.

Principi, M.M. (1947) Contributi allo studio dei Neurotteri Italiani. VI. Synclisis baetica Ramb. (Myrmeleonidae - Acanthaclisini). Bollettino dell'Istituto di Entomologia dell'Università degli Studi di Bologna, 16, 234–253.

Redtenbacher, J. (1883) Zur Kenntnis der Myrmeleoniden-Larven. Wiener Entomologische Zeitung, 2, 289–296.

Redtenbacher, J. (1884) Übersicht der Myrmeleoniden-Larven. Denkschriften, Akademie der Wissenschaften Wien, Mathematische-Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse, 48, 335–368.

Réaumur, R.A.F. de (1742) Histoire des Formica-leo. Mémoires pour servir à l'histoire des insectes. Vol. 6. Paris, pp. 333-386.

Richard, G. (1952) Contribution à l'étude de la biologie des Fourmilions. *Bulletin de la Société Zoologique de France*, 77, 252–263.

- Richard, G. & Pons, R. (1952) Contribution a l'étude écologique des Fourmilions dans les Pyrénées-Orientales. *Vie et Milieu*, 2, 381–387.
- Rösel von Rosenhof, A.J. (1755) Der monatlich-herauskommenden Insecten-Belustigung. Johann Joseph Fleischmann, Nürnberg, 624 pp.

Roubal, J. (1936) Dendroleon pantherinus F. Acta Societatis Entomologicae Cechosloveniae, 33, 172–173.

- Saffré, G. (1957) Le tentorium de la larve du 3e stade d'*Acanthaclisis (Synclisis) baetica* Ramb. (Névroptère Planipenne Famille des Myrmeleonidae). *Bulletin de la Société Zoologique de France*, 82, 28–37.
- Satar, A., Suludere, Z., Canbulat, S. & Özbay, C. (2006) Rearing the larval stages of *Distoleon tetragrammicus* (Fabricius, 1798) (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae) from egg to adult, with notes on their behaviour. *Zootaxa*, 1371, 57–64.

Schenck, A. (1877) Eine neue Myrmeleon-Larve von Mombach in Rheinhessen. Entomologische Nachrichten, 3, 93.

- Stange, L.A. (1970) Revision of the ant-lion tribe Brachynemurini of North America (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). University of California Publications in Entomology, 55, vi+1–192.
- Stange, L.A. (1994) Reclassification of the New World antlion genera formerly included in the tribe Brachynemurini (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). *Insecta Mundi*, 8, 67–119.
- Stange, L.A. (2004) A systematic catalog, bibliography and classification of the world antlions (Insecta: Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). *Memoirs of the American Entomological Institute*, 74, 1–565.
- Stange, L.A. (2008) A new species of the genus *Dendroleon* Brauer from Mexico (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). *Insecta Mundi*, 54, 1–9.
- Stange, L.A. & Miller, R.B (1985) A generic review of the Acanthaclisine antlions based on larvae (Neuroptera: Myrmeleontidae). *Insecta Mundi*, 1, 29–42.
- Stange, L.A. & Miller, R.B. (1990) Classification of the Myrmeleontidae based on larvae (Insecta: Neuroptera). In: Mansell, M.W. & Aspöck, H. (Eds.), Advances in Neuropterology. Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Neuropterology (3–4 February 1988, Berg en Dal, Kruger National Park, South Africa), South African Department of Agricultural Development, Pretoria, South Africa, pp. 151–169.

Stange, L.A., Miller, R.B. & Wang, H.-Y. (2003) *Identification and biology of Myrmeleontidae (Neuroptera) in Taiwan*. I-Lan County Museum of Natural History, Taipei, Taiwan, 160 pp.

- Steffan, J.R. (1965) Les larves de *Megistopus flavicornis* (Rossi), *Creoleon lugduense* (Villers), *Neuroleon ocreatus* (Navás) et *N. nemausiensis* (Borkh.) (Planipennes, Myrmeleontidae). *Vie et Milieu*, 15, 693–707.
- Steffan, J.R. (1968) Sur l'écologie et le comportement de la larve de *Megistopus flavicornis* (Rossi) (Plan. Myrmeleontidae). *Bulletin du Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris*, 40(2), 492–496.
- Steffan, J.R. (1971) Contribution a l'étude des *Neuroleon* [Planipennes, Myrmeleontidae] de la faune de France. *Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (N.S.)*, 7, 797–839.
- Steffan, J.R. (1975) Les larves de Fourmilions [Planipennes: Myrmeleontidae] de la faune de France. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (N.S.), 11, 383–410.
- Steinmann, H. (1967) Tevenyakú fátyolkák, Vízifátyolkák, Recésszárnyúak és Csőrös rovarok Raphidioptera, Megaloptera, Neuroptera és Mecoptera. *Fauna Hungariae*, 82, 1–204.
- Willmann, R. (1977) Die Myrmeleontidae (Insecta, Neuroptera) der Dodekanes/Ägäis. Zoologische Jahrbücher (Abteilung für Systematik, Geographie und Biologie), 104, 98–136.
- Winterton, S.L., Hardy, N.B. & Wiegmann, B.M. (2010) On wings of lace: phylogeny and Bayesian divergence time estimates of Neuropterida (Insecta) based on morphological and molecular data. *Systematic Entomology*, 35, 349–378. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3113.2010.00521.x
- Withycombe, C.L. (1925) Some aspects of the biology and morphology of the Neuroptera with special reference to the immature stages and their possible phylogenetic significance. *Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London*, 72, 303–411.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.1925.tb03362.x